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The Ethos Foundation is composed of more than 200 Swiss pension funds and other tax-

exempt institutions. Ethos was founded in 1997 and aims at promoting socially responsi-

ble investment as well as a stable and prosperous socio-economic environment.  

The company Ethos Services SA conducts asset management and advisory mandates in 

the field of socially responsible investment (SRI). Ethos Services offers institutional in-

vestors a wide range of SRI-funds. The company also provides proxy voting reports in-

cluding voting recommendations, a shareholder engagement programme, as well as 

sustainability and corporate governance ratings and analyses of listed companies. Ethos 

Services is owned by the Ethos Foundation and several of its members. 

The association Ethos Académie allows private individuals to take part in the activities of 

Ethos. This non-profit and tax-exempt organisation was launched in 2012 by the Ethos 

Foundation and has currently about 200 members. It conducts outreach activities in the 

field of socially responsible investment, including an electronic news service, organising 

conferences and debates, supporting the exercise of shareholders’ voting rights and the 

funding of studies. 

www.ethosfund.ch 

www.ethosacademie.ch 
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Institutional investors are entrusted 

with managing assets on behalf of a 

large number of beneficiaries. It is 

therefore their fiduciary duty to pro-

tect and enhance the long-term inter-

ests of the end-owners they repre-

sent. Ethos considers active share 

ownership as a means of obtaining 

higher long-term returns and contrib-

uting to the efficient functioning of the 

financial markets. Voting at share-

holder meetings and engaging in sus-

tained dialogue with companies are 

two basic elements of active owner-

ship. This document sets out Ethos’ 

proxy voting guidelines and corporate 

governance principles. These are the 

references that underpin both Ethos’ 

dialogue with investee companies and 

the vote at shareowners’ general 

meetings. 

Ethos considers that best practice in 

corporate governance is indispensable 

for the implementation of a strategy 

based on corporate social responsibil-

ity, as well as to ensure adequate 

mechanisms of control. Ethos’ voting 

guidelines and corporate governance 

principles are based first and foremost 

on the main codes of best practice in 

corporate governance. Adhesion to 

corporate governance best practice is 

a fundamental principle of corporate 

social responsibility and is necessary 

to ensure adequate control mecha-

nisms and limit risk for investors. The 

voting guidelines and corporate gov-

ernance principles are also based on 

Ethos’ Charter, which is grounded in 

the concept of sustainable develop-

ment where corporate decisions are 

shaped not only by financial, but also 

by social, environmental and corporate 

governance considerations. In this 

respect, Ethos is convinced that loyal-

ty in the relations between a company 

and its various stakeholders contrib-

utes substantially to the company’s 

long-term sustainability and its future 

value. For this reason, Ethos’ ap-

proach is resolutely inspired by a long-

term vision of a company. 

Ethos’ proxy voting guidelines and 

corporate governance principles serve 

a dual purpose. First, they set out the 

position on essential issues of corpo-

rate governance of an institutional 

investor committed to sustainable 

development and responsible invest-

ment. Secondly, they allow a system-

atic and consistent exercise of share-

owner voting rights aiming at promot-

ing the long-term interests of a com-

pany’s shareowners and other stake-

holders.  

The proxy voting guidelines provide 

detailed explanations of Ethos’ voting 
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recommendations on the different 

issues submitted to the vote at gen-

eral meetings. These recommenda-

tions are constructive in spirit since a 

shareowner should be able to trust 

the board of directors and ratify its 

proposals. Nevertheless, where care-

ful scrutiny leads to the conclusion 

that the board’s proposals are not in 

line with the long-term interests of the 

shareowners and other stakeholders, 

an abstain or oppose vote might be 

appropriate.  

Ethos’ analysis is based on the “sub-

stance over form” principle. Thus, 

when proposals put to the vote are 

contrary to Ethos’ spirit, as laid down 

in its Charter, Ethos will oppose them 

despite an apparent adherence to 

form. In light of the diversity and 

complexity of some situations, Ethos 

reserves the right, should the need 

arise, to adopt a position not explicitly 

foreseen in its guidelines. In such 

cases, a clear and documented expla-

nation of the rationale underlying its 

position is provided. 

This document is divided into nine 

sections covering the main issues in 

the field of corporate governance. The 

principles establish high standards 

regarding the attitude expected from 

companies toward their shareholders 

and other stakeholders. The voting 

guidelines take into account the cur-

rent state of corporate governance in 

Switzerland and abroad. Given that 

corporate governance standards, the 

legal and regulatory framework, as 

well as awareness of environmental 

and social challenges vary considera-

bly from country to country, Ethos can 

be led to adapt its voting positions to 

the particularities and realities of each 

market. 

The voting guidelines and principles of 

corporate governance are revised an-

nually.  

2016 edition 

The 2016 edition has been reviewed 

and adapted to the ongoing develop-

ments in legislation and best practice.  

As for Switzerland, the current edition 

in particular takes into account: 

 The new version of the Swiss 

Code of Best Practice for Corpo-

rate Governance by econo-

miesuisse (September 2014). 

 The new Directive Corporate Gov-

ernance (DCG) of the Swiss stock 

exchange SIX Exchange (Septem-

ber 2014). 



 

 The definite entry into force of the 

ordinance against excessive re-

muneration (Minder ordinance) 

Regarding the Minder ordinance, arti-

cle 22 stipulates that pension funds 

subject to the Swiss Federal Law on 

Vesting in Pension Plans (FZG) must 

exercise their voting rights at annual 

general meetings of Swiss listed 

companies. They must vote in the 

interest of their beneficiaries. This is 

as the case when the vote assures 

the prosperity of pension funds in a 

sustainable manner. Ethos considers 

that its voting guidelines respect in full 

the demands of article 22 of the 

Minder ordinance.  





 

On March 3, 2013, the Swiss people 

accepted with a large majority the 

popular initiative ”against excessive 

remuneration”, the so-called Minder 

initiative that gives extensive rights to 

the shareholders of Swiss listed com-

panies, in particular with regard to 

approving board and executive remu-

neration. 

Following the acceptance of the 

Minder initiative and pending the revi-

sion of company law by the parlia-

ment, the Federal council issued the 

Ordinance against excessive remu-

nerations (Minder ordinance) which 

entered into force on 1 January 2014. 

All the provisions of the Minder ordi-

nance must be implemented at the 

latest on December 31, 2015. 

2.1 “Governance” votes 

2.1.1 Board of directors 

The Minder ordinance has established 

stricter rules than the current legisla-

tion with regard to board elections and 

to the functioning of the remuneration 

committee. All the members of the 

board must be put to re-election every 

year individually. This new require-

ment has no impact on Ethos’ proxy 

voting guidelines. The composition of 

the board of directors is still analysed 

with regard to competency, inde-

pendence, diversity and availability of 

its members. 

Since 1 January 2014, the sharehold-

ers are called to elect the chairman of 

the board and the members of the 

remuneration committee in additional 

separate votes. Ethos’ conditions for 

re-election ask that executive direc-

tors cannot be members of the remu-

neration committee. This committee 

must also consist in majority of inde-

pendent members, a majority of 

whom do not hold executive positions 

in other companies. This could have 

an adverse effect on remuneration, as 

these directors might have a personal 

interest in increasing executive remu-

neration. 

Moreover, the principles regarding the 

tasks and competencies of the remu-

neration committee should be fea-

tured in the articles of association and 

therefore approved by the shareholder 

general meeting. 

2.1.2 Independent representative 

The existence of an “independent 

representative” of shareholders is 

necessary to allow the shareholders 

2. Implications of the Implementation of 

the Minder Initiative 



to vote by proxy ahead of the meet-

ing. Following the entry into force of 

the Minder initiative, the independent 

representative is put to annual 

(re)election by the shareholders. For 

Ethos, independence is fundamental 

to ensure the credibility of the repre-

sentative of the shareholders. 

The Minder ordinance also stipulates 

that the independence criteria regard-

ing the external auditor must be ap-

plied by analogy to the independent 

representative of the shareholders. In 

particular, close links between the 

governing bodies of the company or 

an important shareholder on the one 

hand, and the independent repre-

sentative (or persons closely linked to 

him) on the other hand are incompati-

ble with the notion of independence 

of the independent representative. 

2.1.3 Statutory provisions 

The Minder ordinance stipulates that 

certain provisions with regard to the 

functioning of the company’s govern-

ing bodies must necessarily be writ-

ten in the articles of association. 

A. Maximum number of mandates 

To ensure that the members of the 

governing bodies have sufficient time 

to devote to the exercise of their 

mandate with the required diligence, 

the maximum number of mandates 

held by the members of the board of 

directors, the advisory board (if any) 

and the executive management in 

governing bodies of other legal enti-

ties must be set in the articles of as-

sociation. 

Ethos is of the opinion that it is im-

portant to set a maximum number of 

mandates for members of the execu-

tive management and for non execu-

tive board members separately to re-

flect their different status. In both 

cases, a distinction should be made 

between mandates in listed and non 

listed companies or other institutions. 

These distinctions aim at allowing a 

more precise assessment of the 

workload that the maximum number 

of functions entails. This should also 

allow determining whether the mem-

bers of the board and executive man-

agement are in a position to carry out 

their responsibilities with the required 

diligence. 

The question of maximum number of 

mandates acceptable to Ethos in the 

framework of the Minder ordinance is 

treated in appendix 2 of the voting 

guidelines. 



 

B. Executive contracts 

The maximum termination period 

must be stipulated in the articles to 

avoid executive contracts circumvent-

ing the ban on severance by way of 

long notice periods or lengthy con-

tracts. According to the Minder ordi-

nance, neither the contract length nor 

the notice period should exceed one 

year. It is however not clear what re-

muneration the executives are entitled 

to (fixed salary and target bonus, or 

total remuneration package including 

shares and options). Ethos is of the 

opinion that in principle, only the fixed 

remuneration should be paid to an 

employee upon termination who did 

not work during the notice period. 

It should be noted that the Minder 

ordinance prohibits severance pay-

ments. In order to circumvent this 

rule, many companies have included 

in their articles of association the pos-

sibility to include compensated non-

compete clauses in the employment 

agreements of the members of the 

executive management. In principle, 

the articles of association specify the 

duration of such clauses and the pay-

ments to which the beneficiary is enti-

tled. 

2.2 New “remuneration” votes 

With the entry into force of the Mind-

er initiative, Switzerland is the country 

where the shareholders of listed 

companies have the most rights with 

regard to setting board and executive 

remuneration. The shareholders now 

have the non-transferable right to vote 

on the total amounts of remuneration 

not only for the board of directors, but 

also for the executive management 

and if relevant for the advisory board. 

2.2.1 Mandatory requirements 

As of 2015, Swiss listed companies 

are required to submit the amounts of 

remuneration for the governing bodies 

to the vote of the shareholders. The 

Minder ordinance includes 3 minimum 

requirements: 

 The shareholders must approve 

the remuneration every year. 

 The shareholders must vote sepa-

rately on the amounts to be paid to 

the board of directors, the execu-

tive management and the advisory 

board. 

 The vote of the shareholders is 

binding. 



Additional provisions, especially vote 

modalities, must be stipulated in the 

company’s articles of association 

2.2.2 Voting modalities 

The voting modalities must be stipu-

lated in the articles of association. In 

principle, the companies request a 

prospective (ex ante) vote on the 

board’s fees. Regarding the remuner-

ation of the executive management, 

the companies can propose:  

 a single vote on the maximum 

amount  

 separate votes for the fixed and 

variable parts 

Companies can also opt between: 

 prospective (ex ante) votes, by 

requesting a maximum budget 

 retrospective (ex post) votes on 

the remuneration that they want to 

pay at the end of the performance 

period, when performance can be 

assessed 

A. Separation of the votes 

Ethos is of the opinion that the votes 

on fixed remuneration should be sepa-

rate from those on variable remunera-

tion. In fact, the fixed remuneration is 

known in advance, whereas the varia-

ble remuneration is conditional upon 

achievement of past or future perfor-

mance objectives. Ethos also consid-

ers that it would be preferable to sep-

arate the votes on short-term and 

long-term variable remuneration (gen-

erally share based plans). When com-

panies ask for a single amount for the 

entire variable remuneration, it is im-

portant that they give an explanation 

on the breakdown of the amount into 

short- term bonus and long-term in-

centive plan. 

B. Prospective or retrospective votes 

For the fixed remuneration, Ethos 

considers that a prospective vote is 

the best solution. It would be difficult 

to argue that members of the execu-

tive management must wait until the 

next annual general meeting to be 

sure they can receive their fixed salary 

for the past financial year. 

Regarding the short-term variable re-

muneration (annual bonus), Ethos 

considers it preferable to hold a retro-

spective vote on the effective amount 

determined based on the performance 

achieved. With retrospective votes, 

companies can make a precise pro-

posal instead of requesting a high 

maximum amount, while the amount 

effectively paid is often much lower 



 

than the maximum amount. In addi-

tion, with retrospective votes, share-

holders avoid the risk of undue pay-

ment of the maximum amount. When 

a company nonetheless wishes to 

vote on the maximum bonus amount 

prospectively, it is indispensable that 

the transparency as regards the re-

muneration system be very high. In 

particular, it is necessary that the 

shareholders know the precise per-

formance criteria. In addition, the re-

muneration system described in the 

articles of association must set a cap 

on the variable remuneration with re-

gards to base salary. Unfortunately 

this is rarely the case, since precise 

performance objectives are often 

commercially sensitive information, 

which companies are not willing to 

disclose in advance. 

Regarding the long-term variable re-

muneration, the precise performance 

targets set are in general less com-

mercially sensitive and can be based 

on external, which cannot be influ-

enced by the company. Their publica-

tion is therefore less problematic for 

companies and the required transpar-

ency can be sufficient to allow a pro-

spective vote. One must not lose 

sight of the problem posed by the 

calculation of the amount that the 

companies must get approval for and 

which, in the case of certain plans, 

may seem excessive since it corre-

sponds to the maximum potential 

(theoretical) value in case the benefi-

ciary exceeds all the objectives set at 

the beginning of the performance pe-

riod.  
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Situations that do not fall under a specific recommendation are to be assessed in 

light of Ethos’ Principles of corporate governance. 

1.1 Annual report and accounts 

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal, however: 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. The information presented to the shareholders does not meet corpo-

rate governance best practice standards. 

b. Serious doubts are raised concerning the quality, sincerity and com-

prehensiveness of the information provided.  

c. The annual report was not made available sufficiently in advance of 

the general meeting.  

d. The board of directors refuses to disclose important information that 

is firmly requested, or responds to legitimate requests for supplemen-

tary information in an unsatisfactory manner.  

e. There are serious and demonstrable failings in the statement of ac-

counts.  

1.2 Discharge of the board of directors 

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal, however: 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. The external auditors’ report expresses reservations concerning the 

board’s conduct of the company, or reveals serious shortcomings in 

the exercise of board members’ duties. 

b. A shareholder resolution or question or any other factual element re-

veal serious deficiencies in the board’s conduct of the company’s af-

fairs.  

1. Accounts, Dividend and Discharge 



c. Legal proceedings have been instituted or a criminal conviction is 

brought against the board of directors or the Supervisory Board con-

cerning the conduct of the company’s affairs. 

d. There is profound disagreement concerning the management of the 

company’s affairs or the Board’s decisions. 

e. Serious shortcomings in corporate governance constitute a major risk 

for the company and its shareholders. 

f. The size of the board of directors has persistently remained below 4 

members. 

g. There is a strong deterioration of the company’s financial situation 

due to successive poor financial results, large impairments or signifi-

cant new provisions for litigation costs. 

h. The board of directors has made decisions that constitute a major en-

vironmental or social risk or it does not recognise the major environ-

mental/social issues that the company faces. 

i. The company is involved in an accident that seriously harmed the 

employees’ health, local communities or the natural environment. 

j. There are well grounded accusations against the company for sys-

tematic violations of internationally recognised human rights in local 

communities and the company refuses the dialog with these commu-

nities. 

k. The company refuses to recognise the negative impact of some of its 

products or its operations on humans or the natural environment. 

l. There are well grounded accusations against the company for serious 

violations of internationally recognised human rights of employees or 

the company is complicit in such violations along the supply chain. 

  



 

1.3 Allocation of income and dividend distribution 

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal, however: 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. The allocation of income and the dividend distribution are not con-

sistent with the company’s financial situation and perspectives. 

b. The proposed allocation of income is not compatible with the inter-

ests of all shareholders. 

c. The proposal replaces the cash dividend with a share repurchase pro-

gramme. 

d. The dividend is replaced by a reimbursement of nominal value of the 

shares that substantially deteriorates the shareholders’ right to place 

an item on the agenda of the annual general meeting.  

 



Situations that do not fall under a specific recommendation are to be assessed in 

light of Ethos’ principles of corporate governance. 

2.1 Election or re-election of non-executive directors 

VOTE FOR the proposal of the board of directors or of certain shareholders, 

however: 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. Insufficient information is provided concerning the nominee or the in-

formation does not allow evaluating his expected contribution to the 

board of directors. 

b. The nominee was implicated in a serious controversy in the past or 

does not have a good reputation or his activities and attitude are not 

irreproachable. 

c. The number of mandates held by the nominee is excessive in light of 

the type of mandates and the maximum limit required by national 

standards on corporate governance (for Switzerland, see appendix 2). 

d. The nominee has been a member of the board for more than 20 years 

and there is no valid reason (e.g. he is not a founding member or ma-

jor shareholder, possesses no specific competencies, etc.) to justify 

his (re-)election. 

e. The nominee is over 75 years of age or over 70 years upon first ap-

pointment and there is no substantial justification for his nomination. 

f. The nominee does not meet Ethos’ independence criteria (see ap-

pendix 1) and the overall board independence is not sufficient with re-

spect of national standards of corporate governance. 

g. The nominee has a major conflict of interest that is incompatible with 

his role as board member. 

h. The nominee is a representative of a significant shareholder who is 

sufficiently represented on the board. Under no circumstances should 

a shareholder control the board. 

2. Board of Directors 



 

i. The nominee has held an executive function in the company during 

the last three years and the board of directors includes too many ex-

ecutive or former executive directors with respect to national stand-

ards of corporate governance. 

j. The nominee has held executive functions in the company during the 

last three years and he will sit on the audit committee. 

k. The nominee is the chairman of the audit committee and the compa-

ny is facing serious problems related to the accounts, the internal 

control system, the internal or external audit, or in terms of business 

ethics. 

l. The nominee is chairman of the nomination committee and one of the 

following is true: 

 The board renewal is insufficient. 

 The board composition is unsatisfactory. 

m. The nationality/origin/domicile of the new nominee is overrepresented 

on the board without justification. 

n. The new nominee has a nationality/origin/residence other than the 

country where the company is incorporated and the board does not 

include any members with nationality/origin/residence in/of the coun-

try of incorporation. 

o. The nominee was employed by the audit firm as partner in charge of 

the audit of the company’s accounts (lead auditor) during the past 2 

years. 

p. The nominee has attended too few board meetings (in principle less 

than 75%) absent compelling and justified reasons.  

q. The nominee is the lead director, but does not meet Ethos’ independ-

ence criteria (see appendix 1); in particular due to a conflict of interest. 



2.2 Election or re-election of executive directors 

VOTE FOR the proposal of the board of directors or of certain shareholders, 

however: 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. Insufficient information is provided concerning the nominee. 

b. The nominee was implicated in a serious controversy in the past or 

does not have a good reputation or his activities and attitude are not 

irreproachable. 

c. The nominee chairs or will chair the board permanently and the gen-

eral meeting cannot vote separately on the election of the chairman of 

the board. 

d. The nominee serves or will serve on the audit committee or the re-

muneration committee. 

e. The nominee chairs or will chair the nomination committee. 

f. The nominee serves or will serve on the nomination committee when 

the overall composition of the latter does not guarantee the commit-

tee’s independence (in principle when the majority of its members are 

not independent or it already includes an executive director). 

g. The board of directors includes too many executive and former execu-

tives with respect to national standards of corporate governance. 

h. The overall board independence is not sufficient with respect of na-

tional standards of corporate governance and the shareholder struc-

ture. 

i. The nominee is a representative of a significant shareholder who is 

sufficiently represented on the board. 

  



 

2.3 Election or re-election of the chairman of the board of directors 

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal, however,  

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. Ethos could not support the election or re-election of the nominee to 

the board of directors. 

b. The nominee is also member of the executive management and the 

combination of functions is permanent. 

c. The corporate governance of the company is unsatisfactory and the 

dialogue with the shareholders is difficult or does not lead to the de-

sired outcomes. 

d. The board of directors refuses to implement a shareholder resolution 

that received support from a majority of votes during previous general 

meetings. 

e. The board has not established a nomination committee and one of the 

following is true:  

 The board renewal is insufficient. 

 The board composition is unsatisfactory. 

f. The company’s financial performance has been unsatisfactory for 

several years.  

2.4 Election or re-election of the members of the remuneration 

committee 

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal, however,  

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. Ethos could not support the election of the nominee to the board of 

directors. 

b. The number of mandates held by the nominee is excessive in light of 

the types of mandates and the maximum limit required by national 

standards on corporate governance (for Switzerland see appendix 2). 



c. The nominee is not independent and the majority of the committee 

members are not independent. 

d. The nominee does not meet Ethos’ independence criteria (see ap-

pendix 1) and the committee includes all board members. 

e. The nominee holds an executive function in the company. 

f. The nominee is executive in another listed company and a majority of 

the committee members are executives in other listed companies. 

g. The nominee is chairman of the remuneration committee and also 

chairman of the board and is not considered independent according to 

the criteria mentioned in appendix 1. 

h. The nominee was member of the remuneration committee during the 

past financial year and one of the following points is true: 

 The remuneration system of the company is deemed very un-

satisfactory. 

 The transparency of the remuneration report is deemed very 

insufficient. 

 The amounts paid out are not in line with the company’s per-

formance or with the remuneration components approved by 

the annual general meeting. 

 The exercise conditions for a variable remuneration plan were 

modified in the course of the financial year. 

i. The nominee was member of the remuneration committee in the past 

when this committee had made decisions fundamentally in breach 

with generally accepted best practice standards.  

  



 

2.5 Grouped elections or re-elections of directors 

VOTE FOR if there is no major objection to the nominees standing for 

(re)election. 

OPPOSE if the board of directors’ proposal on the (re-)election of one or more 

directors is considered detrimental to the interests of the company and its 

shareholders. 



Situations that do not fall under a specific recommendation are to be assessed in 

light of Ethos’ principles of corporate governance. 

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal concerning the election or re-election 

of the external audit firm, however, 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. The name of the audit firm is not disclosed before the annual general 

meeting. 

b. The term of office of the audit firm is too long in terms of national 

best practice standards. 

c. The breakdown of the services provided by the audit firm is insuffi-

cient to allow an informed assessment of the auditor’s independence. 

d. The fees paid to the audit firm for non-audit services exceed audit 

fees, absent compelling justification by the company. 

e. The aggregate fees paid to the audit firm for non-audit services during 

the most recent three years exceed 50% of the aggregate fees paid 

for audit services during the same period.  

f. The independence of the audit firm is compromised by links between 

partners of the audit firm and/or the auditors in charge of the audit of 

the accounts and the company (Directors, major shareholders, audit 

committee members, senior managers). 

g. The fees paid by the company to its audit firm exceed 10% of the ex-

ternal auditor’s turnover. 

h. The lead auditor has recently been severely criticised in connection 

with his fulfilment of a similar mandate. 

i. The company accounts or the audit procedure determined by the au-

dit firm have been subject to severe criticism. 

j. The auditor had not identified fraud or proven weaknesses in the in-

ternal control system that have had a significant negative impact on 

the company’s result. 

3. Audit Firm 



 

Situations that do not fall under a specific recommendation are to be assessed in 

light of Ethos’ principles of corporate governance. 

4.1 Remuneration system / remuneration report / incentive plans 

VOTE the board of directors’ proposal, however, 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. The information provided to the shareholders is insufficient to assess 

the principles, structure and components of the remuneration system 

(see appendices 3 and 4).  

b. The structure of the remuneration is not in line with generally accept-

ed best practice standards (see appendices 3 and 4). 

4.2 Total remuneration amount for the board of directors 

VOTE the board of directors’ proposal, however, 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. The information provided by the company is insufficient. 

b. The remuneration planned for or paid out to one or several members 

is significantly higher than that of the peer group. 

c. The proposed increase relative to the previous year is excessive or 

not justified. 

d. The non-executive directors receive remuneration other than a fixed 

amount paid in cash or in shares. 

e. The remuneration of the non-executive chairman largely exceeds that 

of the other non-executive board members without adequate justifica-

tion. 

f. The remuneration of the executive members of the board (excluding 

the executive management) is excessive or is not in line with general-

ly accepted best practice standards (see appendix 3). 

4. Board and Executive Remuneration  



4.3 Amount of fixed remuneration for the executive management 

VOTE the board of directors’ proposal, however, 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. The information provided by the company, in particular with regard to 

the different components of the fixed remuneration or the number of 

beneficiaries, is insufficient. 

b. The fixed remuneration planned for or paid out to one ore several 

members is significantly higher than that of a peer group. 

c. The proposed increase relative to the previous year is excessive or 

not justified. 

4.4 Maximum amount of variable remuneration (prospective or 

retrospective vote) 

VOTE the board of directors’ proposal, however, 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. The information provided is insufficient for shareholders to assess the 

plans’ features and functioning (see appendix 4). 

b. The structure and conditions of the plans do not respect generally ac-

cepted best practice standards (see appendix 4). 

c. Past awards and the amounts released after the perfor-

mance/blocking period, described in the remuneration report, do not 

allow confirmation of the link between pay and performance. 

d. The remuneration committee or the board of directors have excessive 

discretion with regard to awards and administration of the plan, for 

example in re-adjusting the exercise price, extension of the exercise 

period, amendment to the performance criteria or in replacing one 

plan by another, without prior shareholder approval. 



 

e. The requested amount does not allow to respect the principles men-

tioned in appendix 3, in particular the maximum proportion between 

fixed and variable remuneration. 

4.5 Total remuneration amount (fixed and variable) for the 

executive management 

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal, however, 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. The information provided is insufficient for shareholders to assess the 

relevance of the maximum requested amount (see appendix 3). 

b. The total amount calculated on the basis of available information al-

lows for the payment of significantly higher remunerations than those 

of a peer group. 

c. The maximum amount that can be effectively paid out in case of 

overachievement of targets is significantly higher than the amount re-

quested at the general meeting. 

d. The remuneration structure and the maximum requested amount are 

not in line with generally accepted best practice standards (see ap-

pendix 2). 

e. Past awards and the amounts released after the perfor-

mance/blocking period described in the remuneration report do not al-

low confirmation of the link between pay and performance. 

f. The remuneration committee or the board of directors have excessive 

discretion with regard to awards or have paid out undue remuneration 

during the previous financial year. 

  



4.6 Length of employment contracts and of notice periods of the 

members of the executive management 

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal, however, 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. The employment contracts and notice periods exceed one year. 

b. The formulation of the contract allows for the payment of severance 

payments higher than those prescribed by best practice. 

c. The contracts include non-compete clauses that could lead to exces-

sive payments. 



 

Situations that do not fall under a specific recommendation are to be assessed in 

light of Ethos’ principles of corporate governance. 

5.1 Changes in the capital structure 

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal, however, 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. The amendment contravenes the “one share = one vote” principle, 

unless the company’s long-term survival is seriously undermined. 

b. The amendment is intended to protect management from a hostile 

takeover bid that is compatible with the long-term interests of the ma-

jority of the company’s stakeholders. 

5.2 Capital increase without specific purpose 

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal, however, 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. The requested authority to issue shares, with tradable pre-emptive 

rights, for general financing purposes, exceeds the lesser of 50% of 

the issued capital and the maximum percentage accepted by local 

standards of best practice. 

b. The requested authority to issue shares, without tradable pre-emptive 

rights, for general financing purposes, exceeds the lesser of 20% of 

the issued capital and the maximum percentage accepted by local 

standards of best practice. 

c. In case of approval of the request, the aggregate of all authorities to 

issue shares without tradable pre-emptive rights for general financing 

purposes would exceed 25% of the issued share capital.  

d. The dilution due to the capital increases without pre-emptive rights in 

the past three years has been excessive. 

5. Capital Structure and Shareholder 

Rights 



e. The length of the authorisation exceeds the lesser of 24 months and 

the length foreseen by local standards of best practice. 

5.3 Capital increase for a specific purposes, with pre-emptive 

rights 

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal, however, 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. The purpose of the proposed capital increase (for example an acquisi-

tion or merger) is incompatible with the long-term interests of the ma-

jority of the company’s stakeholders, with regard to the amount of 

new capital requested and the financial situation of the company. 

b. The proposed capital increase exceeds the maximum percentage ac-

cepted by local standards of best practice, or the company’s needs, 

given the relevance of the pursued objective. 

5.4 Capital increase for a specific purpose, without pre-emptive 

rights 

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal, however, 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies:  

a. The purpose of the proposed increase (for example an acquisition, 

merger or employee incentive plan) is incompatible with the long-

term interests of the majority of the company’s stakeholders, with 

regard to the amount of new capital requested and the financial situ-

ation of the company. 

b. The proposed increase exceeds the lesser of one-third of the capital 

and or the maximum percentage accepted by local standards of best 

practice. 

c. The capital requested is intended to fund a share-based incentive 

plan the main characteristics of which are incompatible with Ethos’ 

guidelines for such plans (see appendix 4). 



 

5.5 Share repurchase with cancellation or capital reduction via 

reimbursement of par value 

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal, however, 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a.  

b. The principle of equal treatment of shareholders is not respected. 

c. The amount of the repurchase/reimbursement is excessive given the 

financial situation and perspectives of the company. 

d. The company may undertake selective share repurchases.  

e. The shareholders’ right to place an item on the agenda of the general 

meeting is significantly undermined. 

f. The company proposes to cancel shares despite its significant capital 

need.  

g. The share repurchase replaces the cash dividend. 

h. The ability of the company to pay a dividend is critically undermined 

by the repurchase of the shares. 

5.6 Share repurchase without cancellation 

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal, however, 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. The amount to be repurchased exceeds a given percentage of the 

share capital established in accordance with the rules of corporate 

governance in the relevant country (in principle 10%). 

b. The repurchase price is too high. 

c. The share repurchase replaces the dividend in cash. 

d. The ability of the company to pay a dividend is critically undermined 

by the repurchase of the shares. 



e. The company can proceed to selective share repurchases. 

f. The length of the authorisation exceeds the lesser of 24 months and 

the length prescribed by the local standards of best practice. 

g. The purpose of the repurchase, such as financing an employee partic-

ipation plan for example, is incompatible with the long-term interests 

of minority shareholders or with those of the majority of the compa-

ny’s stakeholders. 

5.7 Capital reduction via cancellation of shares  

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal, however:  

OPPOSE if the capital reduction is incompatible with the long-term interests of 

the majority of the company’s stakeholders. 

5.8 Removal or introduction of a new class of shares 

VOTE FOR the removal and oppose the introduction, unless one of the following 

conditions applies: 

a. The long-term survival of the company is threatened. 

b. The proposal is contrary to the long-term interests of a majority of the 

stakeholders of the company. 

5.9 Removal or introduction of a limit on voting rights 

VOTE FOR the removal and oppose the introduction, unless one of the following 

conditions applies 

a. The long-term survival of the company is threatened. 

b. The proposal contravenes the long-term interests of the majority of 

the company’s stakeholders.  



 

5.10 Removal or introduction of an opting out or opting up clause 

VOTE FOR the removal and oppose the introduction of an opting out or opting 

up clause. The replacement of an opting out clause with an opting up clause can 

be accepted. 

5.11 Introduction or renewal of anti-takeover provisions  

OPPOSE the board of directors’ proposal, unless the company provides a con-

vincing explanation that the proposed measure is one-time-only, necessary to 

preserve the long-term survival of the company and in line with the long-term 

interests of the majority of the company’s stakeholders. 

 



Situations that do not fall under a specific recommendation are to be assessed in 

light of Ethos’ principles of corporate governance. 

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal, however, 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. Given the scale of the proposed transaction, the acquisition, merger 

or spin-off is not consistent with the long-term interests of the majori-

ty of the company’s stakeholders. 

b. The “fairness opinion” was not done in compliance with the princi-

ples of best practice. 

c. The information available is not sufficient to make an informed deci-

sion. 

d. The legislation and the corporate governance standards of the new 

place of incorporation significantly deteriorate the rights of the share-

holders and other stakeholders. 

e. The governance of the new entity is clearly worse than before. 

f. The merger/acquisition does not respect international standards in re-

spect of human and labour rights and/or the environment. 

6. Mergers, Acquisitions, and Relocations 



 

Situations that do not fall under a specific recommendation are to be assessed in 

light of Ethos’ principles of corporate governance. 

7.1 Various amendments to the articles of association 

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal, however, 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. The company fails to provide sufficient information to enable the 

shareholders to assess the impact of the amendment(s) on their 

rights and interests. 

b. The amendment has a negative impact on the rights or interests of all 

or some of the shareholders. 

c. The amendment has a negative impact on the long-term interests of 

the majority of the company’s stakeholders. 

d. The amendment constitutes a risk for the going concern. 

e. Several amendments are submitted to shareholder approval under a 

bundled vote and have positive, negative and neutral impacts on 

shareholders’ rights and interests and other stakeholders, but the 

negative impacts outweigh all others. 

7.2 Fixing of the minimum and maximum board size  

VOTE FOR the proposal of the board of directors or of certain shareholders un-

less the number proposed is not adequate for the size of the company and tak-

ing into account the local standards of best practice. 

  

7. Amendments to the Articles of 

Association  



7.3 Modification of the length of the mandate of directors 

VOTE FOR the proposal of board of directors or of certain shareholders to de-

crease the length of the mandates unless the proposal threatens the long-term 

survival of the company. 

OPPOSE the proposal of the board of directors or of certain shareholders to in-

crease the length of the mandates. 

7.4 Modifications of the articles of association in connection with 

the Minder ordinance  

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal, however 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a. Several amendments are submitted to shareholder approval under a 

bundled vote and have positive, negative and neutral impacts on 

shareholders’ rights and interests, but the negative impacts outweigh 

all others. 

Modalities of the vote by the general meeting on remuneration 

(art. 18 Minder ordinance) 

b. The proposed voting modalities stipulate a prospective vote on the 

maximum amount and the system of remuneration described in the 

articles of association does not include caps on the variable remunera-

tion, or these caps exceed those of Ethos (see appendices 3 and 4). 

c. The proposed voting modalities include the possibility to vote on 

changes to the remuneration retrospectively, even though the maxi-

mum amount has already been accepted prospectively. 

d. The board may propose that in case of refusal by the shareholders, a 

new vote will be held at the same general meeting, even though the 

second proposal is not known to the shareholders who are not physi-

cally present at the meeting. 

  



 

Structure of the remuneration 

e. The structure of the remuneration is not in line with generally accept-

ed best practice standards (see appendix 3). 

f. The non-executive directors may receive remuneration other than a 

fixed amount paid in cash or shares. 

g. The information provided is insufficient for shareholders to assess the 

variable remuneration plans’ features and functioning (see appen-

dix 4). 

h. The structure and conditions of the variable remuneration plans do not 

respect generally accepted best practice standards (see appendix 4). 

i. The remuneration committee or the board of directors have excessive 

discretion with regard to awards and administration of the plan, for 

example in re-adjusting the exercise price, extension of the exercise 

period, amendment to the performance criteria or in replacing one 

plan by another, without prior shareholder approval. 

Reserve for new hires in the executive management 

j. The amount available for new members of the executive manage-

ment is excessive. 

Non-compete clauses 

k. The articles of association include the possibility to introduce non-

compete clauses into employment contracts of the members of the 

executive management and one of the following conditions is met: 

 The maximum duration of the non-compete is not specified or 

is excessive. 

 The maximum amount to be paid in consideration of the non-

compete is not specified or can be assimilated to a severance 

payment. 

  



Maximum number of external mandates for the members of the 

board of directors and the executive management 

l. The proposed maximum number of mandates is considered exces-

sive, i.e. it does not guarantee a sufficient availability for the demands 

of the mandate (see appendix 2). 

  



 

Situations that do not fall under a specific recommendation are to be assessed in 

light of Ethos’ principles of corporate governance. 

VOTE FOR a resolution submitted by an individual shareholder or a group of 

shareholders if the following conditions apply: 

a. The resolution is clearly phrased and properly substantiated. 

b. The resolution respects the principles of best practice in corporate 

governance. 

c. The resolution is in line with the long-term interests of the majority of 

the company’s stakeholders. 

d. The resolution complies with the principles stipulated in Ethos’ Char-

ter, which is grounded in the concept of sustainable development. 

e. The resolution aims at improving the company’s corporate govern-

ance or to enhance the company’s social and environmental respon-

sibility (see examples in appendix 5).  

8. Shareholder Resolutions 



Situations that do not fall under a specific recommendation are to be assessed in 

light of Ethos’ principles of corporate governance. 

9.1 Resolutions that are not on the agenda 

OPPOSE any motion by the board of directors or any shareholders to vote on a 

proposal under the heading “Other business” (or “Miscellaneous”), if the pro-

posal was not disclosed and described in the agenda before the annual general 

meeting.  

9.2 Election or re-election of the independent representative 

VOTE FOR the board of directors’ proposal, however, 

OPPOSE if one of the following conditions applies: 

a.  Insufficient information is provided concerning the nominee. 

b. The nominee does not have a good reputation or his activities and at-

titude are not irreproachable. 

c. The nominee’s independence is not guaranteed. 

  

9. Other Business 



 

In Ethos’ view, in order to be deemed independent, a board member: 

a. Is not an executive director or employee of the company or a company of the 

same group, and has not held such a position in the past five years. 

b. Is not him/herself an important shareholder or does not represent an im-

portant shareholder, a consultant of the company or another stakeholder 

(employees, suppliers, customers, public bodies, the State). 

c. Has not been involved in auditing the company accounts during the previous 

five years.  

d. Has not been a partner or a director of the audit firm of the company during 

the previous three years.  

e. Is not a close relative of or does not have business relations with a member 

of the founding family, an important shareholder or an executive of the com-

pany.  

f. Does not have any permanent conflicts of interest. 

g. Does not hold any conflicting office or cross-directorship with another direc-

tor or with a member of the executive committee.  

h. Does not hold an executive position in a political institution or non-profit or-

ganisation to which the company makes or from which it receives substantial 

donations in cash or kind.  

i. Does not regularly receive any material direct or indirect remuneration from 

the company except his director’s fees.  

j. Has not been sitting on the board or has not been linked to the company for 

more than twelve years (or less, depending on the codes of best practice 

that apply in the country).  

k. Does not receive remuneration of an amount that could compromise his in-

dependence. 

Appendix 1: Independence criteria for the 

members of the board of directors 



l. Does not receive variable remuneration or options that represent a substan-

tial part of his total remuneration and does not participate in the company’s 

pension scheme.  

m. Does not hold options of a substantial intrinsic value. 

n. Is not considered non-independent by the company. 



 

The following limits are applied in order to define the conditions under which the 

amendments to the articles of association or the (re-)elections of the members 

of the board of directors can be accepted by Ethos. 

For the following calculations, all the mandates at companies registered in the 

commercial registry (or in a similar registry abroad) are taken into account. The 

mandates at companies of the group count as one single mandate. The man-

dates of chairman of the board in companies subject to an ordinary audit count 

double. 

Ethos is aware that certain mandates can entail a particularly high workload, for 

example the chairman of the audit committee of a board of directors. In these 

situations, Ethos will assess on a case-by-case basis whether the nominee has 

sufficient availability. 

 BoD Exec. B. 

Total number of external mandates* per person 

of which: 

15 5 

- maximum number of mandates in companies subject 

to ordinary audit ** 

- maximum number of mandates in listed companies 

8 

4 

2 

1 

* In addition to the mandate in the company to which the vote applies. 

** An ordinary audit of the accounts (art. 727 Swiss Code of Obligations, as 

opposed to limited audit) is obligatory for companies that, for two consecu-

tive financial years, fulfil at least two of the three following criteria: 

- Revenues greater than CHF 40 million 

- Balance sheet total greater than CHF 20 million 

- More than 250 full-time equivalents 

 

Appendix 2: Maximum number of external 

mandates 



Transparency  

Approval of the remuneration system or the remuneration report requires that 

the following elements should be disclosed in principle:  

a. A detailed description of the principles and mechanisms of the remuneration 

policy.  

b. A detailed description of each of the components of remuneration, in particu-

lar the bonus system and the long-term plans paid in equity, options or in 

cash. 

c. A summary of the retirement plans of executive management. 

d. A description of the employment contracts of members of executive man-

agement, including the sign-on and termination conditions for each member, 

in particular in case of change of control or non-compete clauses. 

e. The market value at date of grant of each remuneration component.  

Structure  

Approval of the remuneration system or the remuneration report requires that 

the following rules should apply in principle: 

a. The amount of remuneration should be adapted to the size, the complexity, 

the performance and the outlook of the company. 

b. The base salary should not exceed the median of the company’s peer group. 

c. On-target variable remuneration should not exceed the following values: 

 For the members of the executive management other than the CEO: 

100% of the base salary. 

 For the CEO: 1.5 times the base salary. 

Appendix 3: Transparency and structure 

requirements with regard to the 

remuneration system 



 

d. The maximum variable remuneration (for overachievement of targets) should 

not exceed the following values: 

 For the members of the executive management other than the CEO: 

2 times the base salary. 

 For the CEO: 3 times the base salary. 

e. A significant part of the variable remuneration should depend on the attain-

ment of clearly defined, transparent and challenging performance objectives 

that compared to a peer group. 

f. A significant part of the variable remuneration should depend on the attain-

ment of performance objectives that are measured over a sufficiently long 

period (in principle, at least three years). Payments in excess of the values 

stipulated under points c and d above could be accepted under exceptional 

circumstances when the majority of the variable remuneration depends on 

the achievement of relative performance targets. 

g. The remuneration of the highest paid person (of the board of directors or the 

executive management) must not be excessive compared to the remunera-

tion paid in other companies of similar size and complexity. The remunera-

tion should not be disproportionate compared to other members (of the 

board of directors and the executive management). 

h. Long-term incentive plans paid in shares, options or in cash should be in line 

with best practice standards (see appendix 4). 

i. Executive remuneration should not systematically increase disproportionately 

to the remuneration of other employees. 

j. Executive contracts should not include severance payments (golden para-

chutes). 

k. Executive contracts should not include sign-on bonuses (golden hellos) with-

out performance conditions for vesting. 

l. There must be a clawback clause regarding variable remuneration acquired in 

a fraudulent manner or by manipulation of the company’s financial state-

ments.  



Transparency  

Approval of the incentive plans requires that the following elements should be 

disclosed: 

a. Eligibility to participate in the plan. 

b. The type of award (cash, shares, options). 

c. For share based plans, the capital reserved for the plan. 

d. The performance and vesting conditions and the exercise price. 

e. The total duration of the plan, the performance, vesting and blocking period. 

f. The vesting conditions and number of matching shares (if any) to be received 

at the end of the blocking period. 

g. The individual caps, preferably as a % of the base salary. 

h. The upside/downside potential of the shares/options awarded conditionally, 

depending on the level of achievement of performance targets fixed when 

the plan was launched 

Structure  

1. Approval of all variable remuneration plans requires that the, the principles 

mentioned in appendix 3 as well as the following elements should apply: 

a. The plan must not be open to non-executive directors. 

b. Individual awards should not be excessive with regard to best practice 

rules and the company’s results. The total amount received from partici-

pation in the company’s various plans should also be taken into account. 

c. The plan should not offer excessive or unsymmetrical leverage. 

Appendix 4: Transparency and structure 

requirements with regard to variable 

remuneration 



 

d. The plan must include a contractual clause stipulating that in case of 

fraudulent behaviour or manipulation of the accounts, a clawback is pos-

sible. 

e. The capital reserved for the plan and all other plans (be they broad-based 

or not) should remain within the limits set by the standards of best prac-

tice, i.e. in principle 10% of issued capital in a 10-year rolling period. 

However, 5% of additional capital can be set aside for employee savings-

related plans. Capital reserved for executive incentive plans should not 

exceed 5% of issued capital. Those limits may be exceeded following an 

in-depth analysis of the situation, in particular in the case of “start-ups”, 

growing companies or companies in sectors with long research cycles. 

f. The purchase price of shares should not be in principle lower than 80% 

of the market price at the date of grant. 

g. The exercise price of the options should not be less than the share price 

at date of grant. 

2. Approval of the short-term incentive plans requires that the following ele-

ments should apply in principle: 

a. The bonus payments must be conditional upon the achievement of pre-

determined and stringent performance conditions, aiming to align the in-

terests of the beneficiaries with those of the shareholders. Those per-

formance conditions must be in line with the company strategic objec-

tives and set at the beginning of the period. 

b. The annual bonus must vary in line with company performance. 

c. Part of the annual bonus must be deferred (in form of restricted shares 

for example) in particular when the annual bonus represents the majority 

of the variable remuneration. The blocking period must be sufficiently 

long (in principle 3 years). 

d. When part of the bonus is paid in restricted shares or options, additional 

awards (matching shares) at the end of the blocking period should only 

be linked to the achievement of additional performance targets. 



3. Approval of the long-term incentive plans requires that the following ele-

ments should apply in principle: 

a. The incentive plans with narrow eligibility should vest subject to the 

achievement of pre-determined and sufficiently stringent performance 

targets to align the interests of the beneficiaries with those of the share-

holders.  

b. The targets should be both absolute and relative compared to company 

peers. In case of serious absolute or relative underperformance, the 

number of shares released and/or exercisable options should be reduced 

to nil. 

c. The period of performance testing or blocking should be long enough (in 

principle at least three years). 

 



 

Ethos recommends supporting shareholder resolutions that aim at improving 

corporate governance or enhancing the social and environmental responsibility 

of the company. 

In general, Ethos approves, among others, resolutions such as those mentioned 

below. However, Ethos assesses each resolution in its specific context, which 

could lead to different voting recommendations. 

Corporate Governance Resolutions 

a. Separate the functions of Chairman and CEO. 

b. Introduce annual elections for directors. 

c. Introduce majority vote for director elections. 

d. Report on political contributions and lobbying. 

e. Elect an independent director with confirmed environmental expertise. 

f. Link the grant of options to the achievement of performance targets. 

g. Adopt an annual “Say on Pay”. 

h. Link variable remuneration to clear established and disclosed performance 

criteria. 

i. Remove classes of preferred shares. 

j. Allow minority shareholders to propose candidates for the board of directors. 

k. Align the political contributions of the company with its values. 

Environmental Resolutions 

a. Prepare a sustainability report including the targets set by the company with 

regard to greenhouse gas emissions reduction. 

b. Adopt quantitative targets for reducing total greenhouse gas emissions from 

the company’s products and operations. 

Appendix 5: Shareholder Resolutions 



c. Report to shareholders on the financial risks related to climate change and its 

potential impact on long-term shareholder value. 

d. Report on long-term environmental, social and economic risks associated 

with the oil extraction from oil sands. 

e. Stop oil extraction from oil sands. 

f. Report on risks related to unconventional oil extraction and gas production. 

g. Report on risks related to shale gas extraction. 

h. Report on risks related to deepwater drilling 

i. Report annually on the measures taken to minimise deforestation due to 

palm oil production. 

Social Resolutions 

a. Prepare a report on diversity within the company. 

b. Establish a human rights committee. 

c. Introduce independent monitoring of the company’s human rights’ code. 

d. Prepare a report on company policy aiming at reducing accident risks. 

e. Establish a policy aiming at maintaining affordable prices for medicines. 



 

 

Corporate Governance Principles 





 

1.1 Annual report 

The annual report enables sharehold-

ers and other stakeholders to follow a 

company’s financial situation and to 

be informed of corporate strategic 

orientations. It gives the board of di-

rectors the opportunity to present and 

comment upon its activities during the 

financial year and to put forward fu-

ture strategies and objectives. Conse-

quently, the quality and sincerity of 

the information contained in this doc-

ument are crucial to ensure investor 

confidence. 

During the annual general meeting, 

the annual report is presented to the 

shareholders, who may subsequently 

call upon the board of directors and 

address queries or express concerns. 

Afterwards the annual report is gener-

ally put to the vote of the sharehold-

ers. In some countries it is accompa-

nied by a request to discharge the 

board of directors or the Supervisory 

board for their management of the 

company during the year under re-

view. 

The annual report traditionally includes 

financial information at company and 

group level. It should also include the 

management commentary, as well as 

extra-financial information, pertaining 

to the company’s corporate govern-

ance as well as environmental and 

social responsibility.  

A. Management commentary 

The management commentary is a 

complement to the financial state-

ments and should be published in a 

separate chapter of the annual report. 

In the commentary, the management 

should disclose important information 

regarding the company’s financial sit-

uation, as well as the company’s 

strategies and objectives. 

In particular, the commentary should 

include information on the company’s 

activities, strategic orientation, re-

sources, major strategic risks, rela-

tions with stakeholders, actual results 

compared to objectives, main financial 

and non-financial indicators and per-

spectives of the company. 

B. Information on corporate govern-

ance 

More and more companies are includ-

ing a chapter dedicated to corporate 

governance, which has the advantage 

of combining all relevant information. 

In most countries, the standards with 

regard to corporate governance dis-

closure are similar. 

1. Accounts, Dividend and Discharge 



In Switzerland, for instance, listed 

companies should describe their cor-

porate governance practices in a con-

cise and intelligible way. They should 

present the shareholding structure of 

the company, the capital structure, 

the composition and functioning of 

the board of directors and the execu-

tive management, anti-takeover 

measures if any, information about 

the external auditor, as well as the 

company’s information policy. 

C. Information on environmental and 

social responsibility 

The environmental and social respon-

sibility of the company is becoming 

more and more integrated in invest-

ment strategies and decisions. For 

investors like Ethos, a company’s sus-

tainability is an integral part of long-

term shareholder value. Therefore, 

extra-financial information is of par-

ticular importance. The annual report 

should not only disclose the corporate 

governance of the company, but also 

the basis of its environmental and 

social policy. 

In order to establish standardized ex-

tra-financial reporting, the Global Re-

porting Initiative (GRI), a network-

based organisation created in 1997, 

proposes to companies a standardised 

approach in order to measure and dis-

close their economic, environmental 

and social performance.  

The latest version of the GRI, the G4, 

bases the reporting by companies on 

the concept of materiality by asking 

them to define and describe the most 

material risks that their business and 

their stakeholders face. The compa-

nies also have the choice of either 

preparing a “core” report or a “com-

prehensive” report. The difference 

between the two consists mainly in 

the number of indicators. In the core 

approach one indicator per material 

risk is enough, whereas in the com-

prehensive approach, the company 

must publish all the relevant indicators 

for each material issue. 

Such indicators allow investors to as-

sess the performance and progress of 

companies in a systematic and com-

parable way, both in time and across 

sectors. An external audit of environ-

mental and social data published by 

companies adds credit to this ap-

proach. 

Given that the stakeholders’ needs for 

information go far beyond mere finan-

cial data, it is accepted that the annual 

report cannot contain all the company 

reports relating to the above men-



 

tioned topics. The codes of best prac-

tice therefore recommend that a 

summary presentation be included in 

the annual report with references to 

the relevant specific reports such as a 

sustainability report 

1.2 Financial report 

The financial report of a company, be 

it a separate or integral part of the 

annual report, is the document 

whereby shareholders and other 

stakeholders can obtain a comprehen-

sive overview of the company’s finan-

cial situation, past developments and 

future prospects. 

The financial statements (balance 

sheet, income statement, sharehold-

ers’ equity, cash flow statement, 

notes to the financial statements, etc.) 

fulfil two purposes. First, they trace 

the company’s financial evolution; 

secondly, they provide input for share 

valuation and for investor decisions 

concerning the acquisition, retention, 

sale and exercise of the rights and 

obligations attached to such shares.  

Accounting rules therefore require a 

presentation of the company’s finan-

cial statements according to the “true 

and fair view” principle. The integrity 

of financial information is a prerequi-

site to the sound functioning of finan-

cial markets. Thus, companies should 

publish in due time all relevant finan-

cial statements in conformity with 

internationally accepted accounting 

standards (e.g. IAS/IFRS or US-GAAP 

standards). Furthermore, additional 

information recommended by codes 

of best practice in corporate govern-

ance should also be available. Compa-

rability of the financial statements 

published by companies is of para-

mount importance to investors. The 

adoption by companies of standard-

ised accounting practices has brought 

an answer to the problem, but there 

are still differences among companies 

as to the implementation of those 

practices and the quality and extent of 

the information disclosed.  

A company’s financial statements 

must be disclosed to its shareholders 

at least once a year; however, they 

are often issued on an interim basis. 

Shareholders should receive financial 

statements simultaneously to ensure 

the principle of equal treatment. In 

addition, they should receive them 

sufficiently in advance to vote knowl-

edgeably at annual general meetings. 

The efficient and timely publication of 

results following the closure of ac-

counts is paramount to the principles 



of best practice in corporate govern-

ance. 

In most countries, companies are re-

quired to submit their annual ac-

counts, duly certified by an external 

audit firm appointed by the sharehold-

ers, for approval at the annual general 

meeting. Even where the company’s 

articles of association or national legis-

lation do not require shareholder ap-

proval of the company report and ac-

counts, it is nevertheless best practice 

for the board to request such approval 

at the annual general meeting. In fact, 

it is better if the general meeting is 

allowed to vote separately on the an-

nual report and the financial state-

ments. 

1.3 Allocation of income and 

dividend distribution 

The auditors comment on the board of 

director’s proposals concerning the 

allocation of income before they are 

submitted to the shareholders. In 

general, the board proposes that the 

net income be used to set up re-

serves and to pay out a dividend. 

Sometimes, instead of paying a divi-

dend, or in addition thereto, Swiss 

companies propose to reimburse part 

of the nominal value of the shares. 

This is a fiscally attractive transaction 

for the shareholders, because it is not 

subject to income tax. In other cases, 

companies opt for share repurchase 

plans to return excess capital to the 

shareowners instead of (or in addition 

to) paying a dividend (see point 5.3.2 

of the corporate governance princi-

ples). Since 2011, Swiss companies 

may also distribute cash (as a divi-

dend) from a reserve of paid-in capital 

(share premiums or agio) established 

since 1 January 1997. These divi-

dends are exempt from Swiss with-

holding tax and, for Swiss resident 

shareholders, from income tax. 

The dividend should be commensu-

rate with the company’s financial situ-

ation and future prospects. When 

needed, shareholders can ask for ad-

ditional information.  

Income distribution policies depend 

on several factors and therefore vary 

according to the country, the econom-

ic sector and the company’s stage of 

development. Start-ups and growing 

companies may deem it preferable to 

allocate income to the financing of 

their development rather than to pay a 

dividend. 

Given that the total shareholder return 

(TSR) is equal to the sum of the divi-



 

dend yield and the annual share price 

growth, many companies consider it 

important to pay a stable dividend, 

and trust that the increase in share 

value will enhance the shareholders’ 

long-term returns. 

One of the means of evaluating in-

come distribution is the pay-out ratio, 

which is defined as the proportion of 

consolidated net income distributed in 

the form of a dividend and/or reim-

bursement of the nominal share value. 

The pay-out ratio therefore depends 

on the economic sector to which the 

company belongs and the type of 

company. Lower pay-out ratios may 

be justifiable in the case of high-

growth companies that set aside prof-

its for future investment. However, 

mature companies are expected to 

offer higher pay-out ratios. The ratio 

would nevertheless remain compara-

tively lower in countries where com-

panies pay low dividends traditionally 

or for fiscal reasons.  

The pay-out ratio and any fluctuations 

in it must be explained by the compa-

ny. Investors, especially institutional 

investors, need regular inflows of 

cash and therefore appreciate the 

payment of even a modest dividend. 

Therefore, a “zero-dividend” policy 

cannot be approved in the long-term, 

unless the company finds itself in a 

particularly difficult situation.  

Some companies replace the payment 

of a dividend by the operation of share 

buyback programmes. To benefit from 

such programmes, contrary to a divi-

dend, investors have to sell shares in 

order to obtain cash, however this is 

not optimal for long-term investors 

who incur transaction fees (see 5.3.1 

principles of corporate governance). 

Ethos considers that it is normal to 

reduce or withhold the dividend in 

case companies post losses. Given 

that many companies opt for a stable 

dividend policy, it may nevertheless 

be acceptable, in the case of excep-

tional losses, for a company to pay the 

dividend by releasing the amount from 

its reserves, provided that it has suffi-

cient liquidity to do so. This practice 

cannot be justified, however, in the 

case of recurrent or substantial opera-

tional losses resulting, for example, 

from strategic problems for the com-

pany, or from an economic downturn. 

Under such circumstances, paying out 

the dividend would contribute to drain 

the company’s reserves and give the 

shareholders a false impression of its 

real financial situation. 



As a rule, the board of directors’ pro-

posals for the allocation of income and 

dividend distribution should appear on 

the agenda as an item which is dis-

tinct from the request for approval of 

the accounts and discharge of the 

board of directors. Although there are 

many cases where the law or the arti-

cles of association of the company do 

not require the shareholders to vote 

on income allocation, codes of best 

practice consider that shareholders 

should give their opinion in a matter 

that is of direct concern to them. 

1.4 Political and charitable 

donations 

A. Political donations 

In general, company funds should not 

be used for political purposes, like the 

financing of political campaigns or 

elections. There are however coun-

tries where companies are allowed to 

make such donations, not only directly 

to political candidates or parties, but 

also to organisations that finance 

these candidates or parties. In this 

case, companies must demonstrate 

greater transparency, not only in dis-

closing the donations, but also put in 

place rules and procedures regarding 

the allocation of contributions, in the 

company’s code of conduct. 

Where political donations are made, it 

is important that they are in line with 

the strategic interests and values of 

the company and its stakeholders. 

Such donations must not just serve 

the short-term interests of directors 

and certain shareholders. In some 

countries, the maximum authorised 

donation is put to vote. The donations 

must be disclosed and justified in the 

company’s annual report or on the 

website so that shareholders can 

evaluate the use of funds.  

Political donations are classified by 

type. There is a distinction between 

direct donations (to an individual can-

didate or political party) or indirect 

donations (to business federations or 

lobbying organisations).  

B. Charitable donations 

With the understanding that a compa-

ny has a social responsibility toward 

society in general, a company may 

make charitable donations. To avoid 

conflicts of interest, the companies 

should also establish precise and 

transparent attribution procedures and 

rules and procedures, which should 

be written in their code of conduct. 

These donations, approved by the 

board, should be subject to a formal 

and transparent selection procedure 



 

and approved by the board of direc-

tors. 

1.5 Discharge of the board of 

directors 

The discharge (or “quitus” in France) 

granted to the board is all too often 

considered a mere formality. Yet, 

from the perspective of corporate 

governance, shareholders should ap-

preciate the true value of this proce-

dure. Discharge constitutes formal 

acceptance of the facts presented. As 

such, it is the shareholders’ endorse-

ment of the board of directors’ man-

agement of the company affairs dur-

ing the financial year under review. 

In Switzerland, for example, discharge 

is one of the shareholder general 

meeting’s inalienable rights. It consti-

tutes a declaration that no legal pro-

ceedings shall be instituted against 

the discharged body for its conduct of 

business during the period under re-

view. The approval of the annual re-

port and accounts does not automati-

cally entail discharge. 

Discharge is valid only for the facts 

revealed, and exempts the discharged 

members of the board from prosecu-

tion by the company for gross negli-

gence. Shareholders who grant a dis-

charge lose their right to obtain repa-

ration for indirect prejudice. In Swit-

zerland, any shareholders who with-

hold the discharge retain their right to 

file lawsuits against the directors for 

damages within a period of six 

months. 

Generally, the discharge is restricted 

by law to the members of the board 

of directors. A situation may arise, 

however, where the discharge may be 

extended to other persons closely 

connected with the management of 

the company, such as executives and 

trustees. In the case of collegial bod-

ies, it is possible to grant discharge 

only to certain members. 

Persons who have participated, in any 

way whatsoever, in the management 

of corporate affairs should not vote on 

the discharge to the board of direc-

tors. If a person is excluded, then so 

are his representatives. The overriding 

doctrine dictates that a legal entity 

owning shares in the company is pre-

vented from voting the discharge if 

the said entity is controlled by a 

member of the board requesting dis-

charge. 

Given that the discharge entails a 

formal acceptance of revealed facts 

and a release by the shareholders of 



the board of directors for the man-

agement of the company, Ethos con-

siders that the principle of discharge 

should therefore also be extended to 

the management of the extra financial 

challenges of the company. The 

shareholders should therefore not 

grant the discharge when certain ele-

ments of the governance of the com-

pany constitute a significant risk for 

the company’s shareholders and other 

stakeholders. 

Refusal to grant discharge is therefore 

also justified when: 

 The board of directors’ decisions 

constitute a major environmental 

/social risk or it does not recognise 

major environmental/social issues 

which the company faces; 

 The company is involved in an ac-

cident that seriously harmed the 

employees’ health, local communi-

ties or the natural environment; 

 There are well grounded accusa-

tions against the company for sys-

tematic violations of internationally 

recognised human rights in local 

communities and the company re-

fuses the dialog with these com-

munities. 

 The company refuses to recognise 

the negative impact of some of its 

products or its operations on hu-

mans or the natural environment. 

 There are well grounded accusa-

tions against the company for se-

rious violations of internationally 

recognised human rights of em-

ployees or the company is com-

plicit in such violations along the 

supply chain. 

 



 

2.1 Board duties 

The board of directors must be an 

active, independent and competent 

body which is collectively accounta le 

for its decisions to the shareholders 

that have appointed it. In Switzerland, 

the competencies of the board are 

defined in company law (Art. 716 CO). 

In general, Ethos considers that the 

board has the following duties: 

 Play a predominant role in defining 

the company’s strategic orienta-

tions and its implementation. 

 Take the necessary measures to 

meet the targets set, control risk. 

 Monitor the implementation and 

the results of the strategy. 

 Be responsible for the company’s 

organisation at the highest level 

(this includes the appointment, 

monitoring, remuneration and suc-

cession planning of senior man-

agement). 

 Ensure that the accounting and 

audit principles are respected. As-

sess the quality of the information 

provided to shareholders and the 

market when preparing the annual 

report and accounts for which they 

are responsible. 

 Make sure that the company is 

compliant with corporate govern-

ance best practice and disclose it 

to the shareholders. 

 Integrate the notion of environ-

mental and social responsibility in 

the company’s strategy and as-

sume responsibility. 

 Organise and convene the annual 

general meeting and implement its 

decisions. 

To carry out its mandate actively, in-

dependently and competently, the 

board must have a number of charac-

teristics: 

 It must have an adequate compo-

sition (see point 2.3 below). 

 It must receive exact and relevant 

information in a timely manner. 

 It must have access to the advice 

of independent consultants if nec-

essary. 

 It must establish key committees 

in charge of certain matters, in par-

ticular audit, nomination and re-

muneration. 

 It must regularly assess its overall 

performance and the individual 

performance of each board mem-

ber (in particular the Chairman) and 

of the CEO. 

2. Board of Directors 



 It must be regularly renewed. 

2.2 Board structure 

Companies may adopt a unitary board 

structure (a board of directors includ-

ing both executive and non executive 

directors) or a dual board structure (a 

Supervisory board including non exec-

utive directors only and an Executive 

board). Most countries opt for a uni-

tary system. However, in Germany 

and Austria, a dual system of govern-

ance is mandatory. In France and in 

the Netherlands, the law allows com-

panies to choose between the two 

systems. 

In countries where it is mandatory to 

establish dual structures comprising a 

Supervisory board and an Executive 

board (Austria and Germany), the Su-

pervisory board does not include ex-

ecutive members, who can only sit on 

the Executive board. The advantage of 

this system is that there is clear sepa-

ration of the roles of Chief Executive 

Officer and Chairman of the board of 

directors (see 2.7 below). 

2.3 Board composition 

The composition of the board of direc-

tors is fundamental to ensure its good 

functioning. The board should make 

sure that its composition is adequate 

in terms of competencies, independ-

ence, diversity and availability of its 

members. 

A. Competencies 

The board should have an appropriate 

balance of competencies, education 

and professional backgrounds, so as 

to be able to discharge its multiple 

duties in the best interests of the 

company. They are frequently chosen 

for the position they occupy in eco-

nomic, scientific, legal, political and 

academic circles. Similarly, they may 

be selected to represent certain inter-

ests such as those of a major share-

holder, the State or the employees.  

In light of the complexity of their mis-

sion and the responsibility it entails, 

directors should receive induction on 

nomination, as well as regular training 

during the course of their mandate. 

B. Independence 

The board should include sufficient 

directors who are independent from 

management in order to carry out its 

duties with objectivity and in the in-

terests of the shareholders.  



 

Generally speaking, the board of direc-

tors consists of three types of direc-

tors: 

 Independent directors, whose sole 

connection with the company is 

their board membership. 

 Affiliated directors, who are non-

executive directors that do not ful-

fil the requirements for independ-

ence stipulated in point 2.5. 

 Executive directors, who are em-

ployed in an executive capacity by 

the same company. 

To be considered sufficiently inde-

pendent, the board should include at 

least 50% independent directors 

(more than 50% in cases where the 

offices of Chairman of the board and 

CEO are held by the same person). 

Companies with one major sharehold-

er (or group of shareholders) must be 

viewed differently. This is especially 

true of “family” businesses in which 

the founder and/or family members 

are actively involved at the financial 

and management levels.  

In such cases, the composition of the 

Board of directors must be analysed 

keeping in mind the company’s histo-

ry. It should however be noted that 

overrepresentation of important 

shareholders on the board is not de-

sirable. This could lead to a major 

shareholder controlling not only the 

general meeting but also the board, 

which carries serious risks for minority 

shareholders and other stakeholders 

of the company.  

In countries, such as Germany and 

France, the law requires the presence 

of directors who represent either em-

ployees or employees holding compa-

ny shares. In Germany, half the mem-

bers of the Supervisory board of a 

company with a payroll of over 2,000 

must represent the employees. These 

members may be employees or union 

representatives. 

In France, the board of directors must 

appoint employee representatives 

when the employees collectively own 

3% or more of the company’s share 

capital. Furthermore, the board of a 

French company may include employ-

ee representatives (a maximum of five 

or one third of board members). 

C. Diversity 

Diverse skills and sufficient independ-

ence are essential for an effective 

board. Board diversity is also an im-

portant element, as it enhances the 

quality of board deliberations. 



It is therefore important that the board 

include not only female directors, but 

also directors with a diversity of ages, 

origin and professional experiences, 

acquired in particular in the regions 

where the company has important 

operations. 

Gender 

Over the last decade, the under rep-

resentation of women in senior man-

agement, executive and board posi-

tions in listed companies has been a 

much debated issue. It is obvious that 

the achievement of equal representa-

tion in the workplace is a long-term 

undertaking that requires the estab-

lishment of structures that encourage 

and allow women to climb the corpo-

rate ladder. The feminisation of boards 

is a very serious challenge for compa-

nies that are under increasing pres-

sure from the legislator asking for 

more women directors on corporate 

boards.  

In light of the very slow progress over 

the past ten years in most countries, 

which is a demonstration of the limits 

of self-regulation, the European par-

liament adopted a Directive asking the 

large European companies that 40% 

of non-executive members or 33% of 

all members of the board of directors 

be women by 2020. The legislation 

based on this directive is currently 

with the member State governments. 

It should however be noted that fol-

lowing the example of Scandinavia, 

several countries such as Austria, 

Belgium, Denmark, France, Germany, 

Italy, the Netherlands, Slovenia and 

Spain have already adopted quotas. In 

the United Kingdom, the FTSE 100 

companies have almost reached the 

target for 2015 of 25% female direc-

tors. 

In Switzerland the preliminary draft to 

modernise the company law aims at 

strengthening the presence of women 

on the board and in the executive 

committee. It foresees that compa-

nies where the representation of each 

gender in the governing bodies is less 

than 30% must mention in the remu-

neration report the reasons why the 

30% threshold has not been reached, 

as well as the measures envisaged or 

taken to rectify the situation. 

To avoid the introduction of quotas, 

the listed companies must urgently 

put in place policies encouraging the 

professional advancement of women. 

To reach the executive level, women 

need to be able to progress in the 

hierarchy. The implementation of con-

crete strategies and tools to achieve 



 

gender diversity in teams and avoid 

the regular decrease of the number of 

women in higher positions should be 

a priority for the departments of hu-

man resources. 

Age 

It is important that the board has a 

good range of different ages among 

the directors. Too many directors over 

the legal retirement age present prob-

lems for succession and renewal of 

ideas. In fact, the younger generation 

can have a more modern and innovat-

ing view of business. The boards 

should therefore include a diversity of 

directors in terms of age, with particu-

lar emphasis on the board’s succes-

sion plan. In order to ensure regular 

renewal of the board, certain compa-

nies set age or term limits for board 

membership (see point 2.10.C). 

Diversity of origin 

The presence of directors with exten-

sive experience of the company’s 

country of domicile is fundamental. So 

is the presence of a certain number of 

directors of other origins or having 

lived or worked in other regions of the 

globe, especially in countries where 

the company makes business. Their 

contribution becomes increasingly 

important in light of the globalisation 

of the economy. 

D. Availability 

In order to fulfil their duties with the 

required diligence, in particular in a 

period of crisis, the directors should 

have sufficient time to devote to their 

directorships. 

It is therefore important to pay particu-

lar attention to the overall time com-

mitments of the directors, in particular 

when these directors also perform 

executive duties in a company (see 

point 2.10 B). 

2.4 Board size 

While the overall composition of the 

board is an essential consideration, so 

too is its size. A board with too many 

members can become cumbersome, 

but a board which is too small may 

lack competent members and diversi-

ty and be unable to establish separate 

key committees made up of sufficient 

independent and different persons, 

which leads to a risk for the company 

and its minority shareholders. What 

constitutes a reasonable number of 

members depends on the specific 

size and situation of each company. 

For large listed companies, Ethos 



considers that a reasonable number 

would be between eight and twelve 

members; for medium-sized compa-

nies, it would be between seven and 

nine members, and for small compa-

nies between five and seven. 

Experience has shown that when the 

board is too small (four members or 

less), the directors tend to act in an 

executive capacity. In such cases, the 

distinction between management and 

oversight could become blurred, mak-

ing it more difficult to ensure a divi-

sion of responsibilities at the head of 

the company. 

2.5 Independence of directors 

An independent director must be free 

of any link with the company that 

could compromise his objective partic-

ipation in the board’s activities or ex-

pose him to conflicts of interest. 

He/she must be capable of expressing 

disagreement with other directors’ 

decisions if he/she considers that they 

run counter to the interests of the 

shareholders. 

A person’s independence is funda-

mentally a question of character, and 

it is often difficult for shareholders to 

assess this element, especially in the 

case of a new nominee. It is thus 

necessary to evaluate the independ-

ence of board members against gen-

erally accepted objective criteria. 

According to Ethos, an independent 

director:  

a. Is not an executive director or em-

ployee of the company or a com-

pany of the same group, and has 

not held such a position in the past 

five years. 

b. Is not him/herself an important 

shareholder or does not represent 

an important shareholder, a con-

sultant of the company or another 

stakeholder (employees, suppliers, 

customers, public bodies, the 

State). 

c. Has not been involved in auditing 

the company accounts during the 

previous five years. 

d. Has not been a partner or a direc-

tor of the audit firm of the compa-

ny during the previous three years.  

e. Is not a close relative of or does 

not have business relations with a 

member of the founding family, an 

important shareholder or an execu-

tive of the company. 

f. Does not have a permanent con-

flict of interest. 



 

g. Does not hold any conflicting of-

fice or cross-directorship with an-

other director or with a member of 

the executive committee. 

h. Does not hold an executive posi-

tion in a political institution or non-

profit organisation to which the 

company makes or from which it 

receives substantial donations in 

cash or kind. 

i. Does not receive regularly any 

material direct or indirect remu-

neration from the company except 

his director’s fees. 

j. Has not been sitting on the Board 

or has not been linked to the com-

pany for more than twelve years 

(or less, depending on the code of 

best practice that applies in the 

country). 

k. Does not receive remuneration of 

an amount that could compromise 

his independence.  

l. Does not receive variable remu-

neration or options that represent 

a substantial part of his total re-

muneration and does not partici-

pate in the company’s pension 

scheme.  

m. Does not hold options of a sub-

stantial intrinsic value. 

n. Is not considered non-independent 

by the company. 

The laws and best practice codes of 

many countries consider that a direc-

tor is no longer independent when 

his/her mandate has reached certain 

duration. For example the European 

Union, France and Spain foresee a 

limit of 12 years, Great Britain and 

Italy are stricter with 10, and Germany 

considers that a limit should be set, 

but gives no number. The United 

States and the Netherlands have no 

limit. 

Concerning the representatives of a 

significant shareholder, the sharehold-

ing threshold required for a share-

holder to be considered significant 

varies. A threshold of 50% is used by 

the European Union and Germany, 

while France and the Netherlands 

consider that a shareholding of 10% is 

sufficient for a shareholder to be con-

sidered significant. Great Britain and 

Spain go further with a threshold of 

3%. The United States have no rule 

regarding the representatives of a 

significant shareholder.  

Decisions on the independence of 

directors must be guided by the above 

criteria of best practice, but the infor-

mation provided by the company on 



its directors is crucial. To this effect, 

some codes of best practice require 

companies to make substantiated 

statements of independence regard-

ing the directors. 

2.6 Committees of the board of 

directors 

A. General characteristics 

Specialised board committees are a 

fundamental aspect of corporate gov-

ernance. Indeed, because the board of 

directors performs a large number of 

widely varying tasks, the issues to be 

dealt with are complex and the direc-

tors cannot all be expected to have 

the same degree of expertise in all 

fields. Furthermore the board will gain 

in efficiency if the work is shared 

among its members; this is important 

in larger and more diversified compa-

nies. Lastly, in some areas in which 

conflicts of interest are likely to arise 

(audit, remuneration, nomination), 

independent directors play a key over-

sight role. 

The establishment of separate and 

focused board committees is one 

means of addressing such concerns. 

However, these committees do not 

replace the board with regard to mat-

ters that fall within the remit of the 

board as a whole. 

The specific tasks of each committee 

depend on the number of committees 

in a company and may vary from 

country to country. Nevertheless, it is 

possible to identify the general trends 

described below. 

Each company can establish as many 

committees as it deems necessary for 

the conduct of its business. Codes of 

best practice nevertheless recom-

mend a minimum of three commit-

tees (hereinafter referred to as “key 

committees”): the audit committee, 

the nomination committee, and the 

remuneration committee. 

As of 2014 the ordinance of applica-

tion of the Minder initiative (Minder 

ordinance) requires Swiss listed com-

panies to establish at least a remuner-

ation committee the members of 

which must be re-elected annually and 

individually (see introduction to this 

document). 

Large companies sometimes set up 

other committees, for example the 

Chairman’s committee, the corporate 

governance committee, the risk 

committee, the compliance commit-

tee (which ensures the company’s 



 

compliance with the laws, regulations 

and statutory requirements), or the 

committee in charge of the compa-

ny’s environmental and social strate-

gy. The corporate governance com-

mittee is generally responsible for 

evaluating the size, organisation and 

operation of the board and its commit-

tees for ensuring that the board main-

tains good quality engagement with 

the shareholders and that the compa-

ny abides by the law and all relevant 

regulations. 

Each committee should consist of at 

least three but not more than five 

members, in order not to become 

unwieldy. The list of members and the 

name of the chairman of each com-

mittee should be made public. The 

most efficient way of doing this is to 

post the information on the compa-

ny’s website, which should be regular-

ly updated.  

Matters relating to audit as well as the 

nomination and remuneration of direc-

tors and other senior executives re-

quire independent judgment that is 

free of conflicts of interest. They 

should therefore be entrusted to 

board committees comprising only 

non executive and mostly independ-

ent members. 

B. Audit committee 

The board of directors is responsible 

for the integrity of the financial infor-

mation disclosed by the company and 

must therefore set up an audit com-

mittee whose tasks are the following: 

 Be responsible for the reliability 

and integrity of the company’s ac-

counting policies, financial state-

ments and reporting. 

 Ensure the effectiveness and co-

ordination of internal and external 

audits. 

 Verify the independence of the 

external auditor. 

 Authorise the external auditor to 

provide non-audit services and to 

approve the corresponding 

amount. 

 Monitor the company’s internal 

control and risk management sys-

tems. 

 Review and approve the internal 

and external audit reports and put 

in place the required improve-

ments. 

 Conduct a critical survey of the 

financial report and accounts and 

issue a recommendation to the 

board of directors concerning their 



presentation to the annual share-

holders meeting. 

The performance of these tasks has 

led to increasingly professional audit 

committees whose members have 

extensive and up to date expertise in 

accounting, control, and auditing, as 

well as in-depth knowledge of the 

company’s industry. The audit com-

mittee members are in principle inde-

pendent and should have sufficient 

time to carry out their assignments 

with due diligence. 

In order to avoid conflicts of interest, 

audit committee members should in 

principle be independent. Time limited 

exceptions can be made where it is in 

the company’s best interest to rely 

upon the competencies and experi-

ence of a non-independent director. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 

audit committee must never comprise 

executive directors, or persons having 

acted in an executive capacity in the 

previous three years. 

Members of the audit committee 

must have the opportunity to meet 

with and monitor the people respon-

sible for the establishment and the 

control of the company’s accounts in 

the absence of executive directors. 

C. Nomination committee 

The role of the nomination committee 

is to identify and propose the most 

suitable nominees for election to the 

board and for appointment to senior 

management positions. It therefore 

plays a crucial role in ensuring a bal-

anced board of directors and efficient 

senior management. It also establish-

es the succession planning for the 

CEO, the company’s top executives 

and the members of the board. In or-

der to propose the best nominees, the 

committee must adopt selection pro-

cedures that take into consideration 

the company’s specific needs. These 

procedures must be rigorous, trans-

parent and disclosed to the share-

holders. Furthermore, it falls to this 

committee to regularly assess the 

appropriateness of the size and com-

position of the board of directors. 

Lastly, the nomination committee 

must establish a regular process by 

which to appraise the performance of 

board members and of the company’s 

executive management. In order to 

guarantee objectivity, this task can be 

carried out in co-operation with an 

external consultant. The members of 

the nomination committee must be 

non-executive directors mostly inde-

pendent. In exceptional cases and if it 



 

does not go against the rules of best 

practice of the country concerned, 

however, one executive director can 

be accepted on the committee, in 

particular in family-owned companies 

with a major shareholder who is in-

volved in the management of the 

company, provided that the majority 

of the committee members are inde-

pendent. 

D. Remuneration committee 

The remuneration committee deter-

mines the company’s remuneration 

policy. It is also responsible for estab-

lishing share based incentive plans, 

which are suitable to the company 

and considered fair. Remuneration has 

become a very complex affair, and 

most members of the committee 

must therefore have experience in 

this field and have regular access to 

the advice of external remuneration 

consultants independent from execu-

tive management, with whom they 

must not have business relations that 

could give rise to conflicts of interest. 

To avoid any conflicts of interest, the 

remuneration committee should con-

sist entirely of non-executive directors 

who are also in principle independent. 

The appointment of directors with 

executive functions in other listed 

companies should be limited to avoid 

ratcheting up remuneration and the 

risk of replicating the remuneration 

system from one company to another. 

In fact, the remuneration system of 

one company is not necessarily 

aligned with the strategy or is not 

within the scope of activity of another 

company. 

2.7 Separate offices of 

chairman of the board and 

Chief Executive Officer 

(CEO) 

Chairing a board of directors and run-

ning a company are two very im-

portant but distinct tasks. The separa-

tion of the offices of Chairman of the 

board and Chief Executive Officer is 

designed to ensure a balance of pow-

er within the company. It reinforces 

the board’s ability to make independ-

ent decisions and to monitor the con-

duct of business by executive man-

agement. 

The combination of the functions of 

Chairman of the board and CEO varies 

widely from country to country. For 

example, in the United States it is still 

common (although increasingly called 

into question) for the same person to 

combine the positions. In the United 

Kingdom and in Switzerland, in partic-



ular in large corporations, the two of-

fices are generally separate. 

Should the board nevertheless opt for 

the combination of functions, it must 

provide a detailed and substantial jus-

tification. Indeed, exceptional circum-

stances, such as the unexpected de-

parture of the CEO or a crisis, may 

warrant the combination of functions 

for a limited period of time. 

When there is combination of func-

tions, the board must take steps to 

offset such concentration of power. In 

particular, the Chairman/CEO must 

not be a member of any key commit-

tee.  

Furthermore, in case of combination 

of functions, the board should also 

appoint a “senior independent board 

member”, or “lead director”, with the 

following tasks: 

 Put in place a structure that pro-

motes an active role for independ-

ent directors. To that end, he has 

to co-ordinate the activities of the 

independent board members, en-

sure that the opinion of each 

member is taken into considera-

tion and organise working ses-

sions of non-executive directors 

exclusively.  

 Make himself available to inde-

pendent board members to dis-

cuss matters that were not ade-

quately dealt with by the board 

and make sure that independent 

directors receive the information 

they need to perform their duties. 

 Convene the board, whenever 

required, in the absence of the 

Chairman/CEO, in particular for a 

periodic assessment of the latter’s 

performance. 

 Collaborate with the Chairman of 

the board in drafting the agenda 

for board meetings. 

 Facilitate relations with investors. 

 Sit on key board committees and, 

in principle, chair the nomination 

and remuneration committee. 

The corporate governance section of 

the annual report should include a 

brief description of the role and duties 

of the lead director. 

2.8 Information on nominees 

proposed for election to the 

board of directors 

One of the most important sharehold-

er rights is to elect the members of 

the board. In order to be able to vote 

in an informed manner on each nomi-



 

nee, shareholders must receive in-

formation concerning nominees well 

before the annual general meeting. In 

particular, they should be informed of 

each nominee’s identity, nationality, 

age, education and training, recent 

professional experience, length of 

tenure on the board, and, most im-

portantly, any executive or non execu-

tive positions held in other companies 

or organisations. 

For new nominees, the company 

should indicate the particular reasons 

that led to their nomination (compe-

tencies, in-depth knowledge of the 

company industry or region, business 

connections, etc.). 

Before re-electing directors, the 

shareholders must have all the rele-

vant information to assess each 

member’s contribution to the success 

of the board, as well as his/her rate of 

attendance of board meetings. To that 

end, the company should indicate, in 

its annual report, the number of board 

and committee meetings the directors 

have attended. Nominees who were 

absent too often, without due justifi-

cation, should not be re-elected. 

2.9 Board’s election modalities 

Board members must be elected indi-

vidually. A grouped vote is counter 

productive as it can lead shareholders 

to oppose all the nominees, in some 

cases the board as a whole, when 

they have objections to one or more 

directors. This could destabilise the 

company. 

Due to pressure from the authorities, 

the codes of best practice and inves-

tors, the directors of listed companies 

are now (re-)elected individually in 

many countries. However, should the 

company insist that the board be 

elected as a group, Ethos tends to 

abstain or oppose the whole slate, to 

send a signal to the company that 

they do not approve grouped elec-

tions. Since 2014, in Switzerland, the 

Minder ordinance requires Swiss 

listed companies to hold annual indi-

vidual elections to the board of direc-

tors as well as an annual election of 

the chairman of the board by the gen-

eral meeting. 

All nominees should in principle be 

elected by the shareholders. Notable 

exceptions to the rule are Austria, 

Germany, France, Norway and Swe-

den. In Austria, Germany, Norway and 

Sweden, employee representatives 



are elected directly by the employees 

or their unions. In France, employee 

representatives are chosen by the 

employees. The representatives of 

employee-shareholders are first des-

ignated by the employee-shareholders 

or by the supervisory boards of em-

ployee-shareholder funds. Afterwards 

the shareholders are required to vote, 

choosing from the proposed nomi-

nees who will finally sit on the board. 

In the case of companies that have a 

supervisory board as well as a man-

agement board, the shareholders 

elect either the members of the Su-

pervisory board, who then nominate 

the members of the Management 

board (Germany, France, the Nether-

lands), or the members of both the 

Supervisory and the Management 

Boards (Netherlands, under the struc-

tured regime). 

2.10 Characteristics of 

directorships 

A. Term 

Each member of the board of direc-

tors is accountable to the sharehold-

ers and must therefore make himself 

available regularly for re-election at the 

annual general meeting. Annual elec-

tions allow continuous assessment of 

directors’ performance and increased 

accountability to shareholders. In sev-

eral countries, however, especially in 

continental Europe (France, the Neth-

erlands, Germany and Spain), direc-

tors’ mandates are of three years or 

more. In such cases, staggering the 

directors’ terms ensures that part of 

the board is re-elected each year 

thereby avoiding that the entire board 

be re-elected simultaneously. In Swit-

zerland, since 2014 the Minder ordi-

nance requires the annual election of 

directors. 

The board must be regularly renewed 

in order to ensure a constant flow of 

new ideas and maintain a critical spirit. 

This is particularly relevant in the case 

of independent directors. Ethos con-

siders, as do several codes of best 

practice, that a director who has sat 

on the board for over twelve years can 

no longer be deemed independent. 

During such a long period, he will 

have participated in many projects and 

decisions which could compromise 

his objectivity and critical thinking. If 

he remains on the board, he must be 

considered an affiliated director. 



 

B. Number of mandates and availabil-

ity 

A director must have sufficient time to 

devote to his duties, and this is partic-

ularly relevant in a situation of crisis. 

In Switzerland, for example the Mind-

er ordinance requires that Swiss listed 

companies fix in their articles of asso-

ciation the maximum number of man-

dates that members of the board and 

members of the executive manage-

ment can hold. 

In other countries, some codes of 

best practice in corporate governance 

set a maximum number of mandates. 

In the United States, for example, the 

Council of Institutional Investors (a 

non-profit association of public, union 

and corporate pension funds, includ-

ing an increasing number of non US 

investors) considers that a full time 

executive cannot hold more than two 

outside directorships. The CEO should 

not hold more than one outside direc-

torship. And a non-executive director 

without a full time executive position 

should hold no more than five man-

dates listed companies. 

In the United Kingdom, the UK Corpo-

rate Governance Code stipulates that 

a full-time executive director of a 

FTSE 100 company should neither be 

Chairman of the board of another 

FTSE 100 company, nor sit on the 

board of more than one other FTSE 

100 company. 

In France, a director may hold no 

more than five directorships in public 

companies on French soil. In Germa-

ny, the code of best practice in corpo-

rate governance restricts company 

executives to five supervisory board 

positions. 

In the Netherlands, the code of best 

practice limits to two the number of 

directorships for executive directors 

(excluding the chairmanship). For non-

executive directors without a full time 

executive position the aggregate 

number of mandates should not ex-

ceed five, with chairmanships count-

ing double. 

When codes of best practice do not 

include limits, Ethos considers that a 

director with executive functions (or a 

full time position) should not, in prin-

ciple, hold more than one mandate 

outside his company. For non execu-

tive directors, the total number of 

mandates should be 5. This limit also 

depends on his chairmanships, as well 

as his participation in key board com-

mittees. 



A director’s availability can also be 

assessed by his attendance of board 

meetings. A director who, without 

good reason, has failed in one year to 

attend at least 75% of the meetings 

of the board or of the committees on 

which he serves should not be pro-

posed for re-election. 

C. Age limit and maximum term of 

office 

Certain companies, especially in con-

tinental Europe, to set a statutory age 

limit of 70 to 72 years beyond which a 

director must retire from the board. In 

North America, however, such prac-

tice might contravene anti-

discrimination laws. In cases where 

no age limit exists, a director’s nomi-

nation and re-appointment must be 

examined in the light of the board’s 

explanations, his competencies, ten-

ure, the length of the incoming term 

and, above all, the overall composition 

of the board of directors. 

In principle, Ethos considers that a 

director should not be proposed for re-

election after the age of 75. Also, a 

nominee should not be older than 70 

years on first appointment. 

Some companies also set a statutory 

limit to the number of successive 

terms of office a director can serve. 

The aim, obviously, is to renew the 

board regularly, and such limits can 

therefore be considered to promote 

fresh input and new competencies.  



 

3.1 Fairness of the accounts 

One of the fundamental responsibili-

ties of the board of directors is to pro-

vide a “true and fair view” of the 

company’s financial situation and per-

spectives by ensuring the integrity of 

the accounts and any financial infor-

mation disclosed by the company. To 

that end, the board must set up an 

internal and an external monitoring 

system. It must guarantee the quality, 

transparency and continuity of finan-

cial statements in order to provide the 

shareholders with a realistic view of 

the company’s financial situation. 

The board of directors must therefore 

appoint an independent external audit 

company to provide a neutral and ob-

jective audit of the company’s annual 

accounts and financial statements and 

to confirm that its income allocation 

complies with the relevant legal re-

quirements. 

3.2 Appointment of the 

external audit firm 

Given the audit’s importance to the 

shareholders, in most countries the 

annual general meeting is called on to 

ratify the external audit firm appointed 

by the board, usually on the recom-

mendation of the audit committee. 

The board of directors often treats the 

approval of the external auditors as a 

matter of routine. However, it is of 

crucial interest to the shareholders to 

ascertain that the external auditor is 

entirely independent of the company 

to be audited, so that the fundamental 

principle of an objective judgment is 

respected. In order to protect their 

rights, shareholders should only ap-

prove the board’s proposal after taking 

into account the criteria for independ-

ence required by the codes of best 

practice for external auditing. 

3.3 Independence of the 

external audit firm 

A. General considerations 

The auditors must be independent if 

they are to be credible in the eyes of 

investors. What is more, they must be 

independent not only in fact, but also 

in appearance, meaning their attitude 

must be such that no one can ques-

tion their objectivity. 

Codes of best practice in corporate 

governance require that the external 

audit firm be independent of the com-

pany’s board of directors, manage-

ment and any major shareholder or 

group of shareholders. The principle of 

independence applies to the external 

3. Audit Firm 



audit firm’s board of directors, its ex-

ecutives and any employee directly 

involved in the auditing of the ac-

counts. 

The independence of the external au-

ditor is a legal requirement in several 

countries, including Switzerland. The 

relevant Swiss legislation defines in-

dependence as “freedom from in-

structions, freedom of judgment and 

independence in decision”. The audit 

committee must scrupulously and 

systematically take these concepts 

into account when considering 

whether to appoint or re-appoint the 

external audit firm. 

The independence of the audit firm 

can be compromised when there are 

personal or professional ties between 

the audit firm and the company to be 

audited. This is also the case for small 

audit firms when the fees received 

from a single client constitute a sub-

stantial proportion of their turnover. In 

order to ensure the external auditors’ 

independence, international audit 

standards stipulate that fees paid by a 

single company to its external auditors 

should not exceed 10% of the audit 

company’s total turnover. 

It is the role of the audit committee to 

ensure that the auditor’s independ-

ence is not compromised for any of 

the above-mentioned reasons, taking 

into account the auditors’ professional 

standards and the generally accepted 

rules of best practice. 

The regular rotation of the persons in 

charge of the audit mandate also con-

tributes to ensuring the independence 

of the external auditor. For example, 

the Swiss Fiduciary Chamber and the 

new European regulation recommend 

that the company’s lead auditor, who 

signs the audit of the accounts, be 

replaced at least every seven years, 

whereas the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in 

the United States stipulates a change 

every five years. 

B. Limits on non-audit services 

Given the importance of the principle 

of independence, it is now generally 

acknowledged that the external audi-

tor cannot perform, for the companies 

whose accounts it audits, a number of 

services that could impair its inde-

pendence. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act 

(which was introduced in July 2002 

and applies to all companies listed in 

the United States and to their audi-

tors) groups such services into nine 

categories of tasks that are not com-

patible with the role of external audi-

tor: bookkeeping, the establishment 



 

and development of financial infor-

mation systems, valuation or appraisal 

activities, internal audits, legal advice 

and other forms of non-audit expert 

advice, portfolio management and 

certain human resources manage-

ment services. 

In April 2014, twelve years after the 

introduction of the Sarbanes-Oxley 

Act in the United States, the European 

Union adopted a new directive and 

new regulation concerning the audit of 

accounts of public-interest entities. 

Public-interest entities include Euro-

pean companies listed on a European 

stock exchange, as well as banks, 

insurance companies and other enti-

ties with significant public importance. 

The new directive and regulation will 

be applicable beginning June 2016. 

The new regulatory framework prohib-

its auditors from providing certain ser-

vices to the audited companies. In 

particular, the services prohibited by 

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act will also be 

prohibited in the European Union. The 

new European regulation goes even 

further than the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 

by prohibiting, for example, certain tax 

services as well as the conceptualisa-

tion and implementation of proce-

dures of internal control or the risk 

management in connection with the 

preparation or the control of financial 

information. 

There are, however, a large number of 

services, other than those prohibited 

by the different regulations that exter-

nal auditors provide for clients whose 

accounts they also audit. Although 

these services are authorised, they 

can seriously compromise the exter-

nal auditor’s independence because of 

the received amount of fees, which 

sometimes far exceeds the audit fees.  

Thus, in order to maintain the external 

auditor’s independence, the new Eu-

ropean regulatory framework limits 

the amount of fees received for non-

audit services to 70% of the average 

audit fees from the last three years. 

Generally, according to several corpo-

rate governance specialists, an audit 

firm cannot be considered independ-

ent if the fees received for non-audit 

services exceed a certain threshold in 

comparison to the fees received for 

the audit of the company’s accounts. 

This threshold is stipulated in the vot-

ing guidelines of the investors or con-

sultants. Ethos considers that the au-

dit firm should not be re-elected when 

the fees received for non-audit ser-

vices exceed the fees for audit ser-

vices, or when for three consecutive 



years, the cumulative non-audit fees 

exceed 50% of the aggregate audit 

fees. An analysis of the fees paid out 

over more than one year can reveal a 

clear trend in terms of the auditor’s 

fees and therefore enable the share-

holders to evaluate auditor’s inde-

pendence vis-à-vis the company. The 

audit committee should inform the 

shareholders why the external audi-

tors provide non-audit services that 

exceed the limits stipulated above. 

In order to ensure the external audi-

tor’s independence, each company’s 

audit committee must draw up a for-

mal policy on authorised non-audit 

services and the corresponding fees. 

This policy must be disclosed to the 

shareholders. 

To enable investors to assess the 

risks to the independence of audit 

firm, it is essential to analyse the 

breakdown between fees received for 

auditing services and fees for other 

services, in particular consultancy ser-

vices. 

The way fees paid to the audit firm 

are presented varies widely from one 

country to another. In some countries, 

companies present the fees paid to 

the auditor in clearly distinct catego-

ries, indicating the corresponding 

amounts, while in others there is no 

obligation to provide that amount of 

detail. In Switzerland, Directive on 

Corporate Governance of the SIX 

Swiss Exchange requires companies 

to publish separately the total fees 

invoiced by the auditor for the audit in 

the current financial year from the 

total fees invoiced for other services, 

with a mention of the nature of the 

services other than the audit. Ethos 

considers that the total amount for 

other services be broken down into its 

main components, such as tax advice, 

legal advice and transaction consulting 

including due diligence. General and 

vague formulations such as “various 

services” are to be avoided as they 

are boilerplate. 

Given the variety of requirements re-

garding the disclosure of fees paid to 

the external auditor, international 

comparisons are not always easy. 

Therefore the investors base their 

assessment of the external auditor’s 

independence on the amount of detail 

provided and on the guidelines each 

investor follows. 

C. Rotation of the audit firm 

Finally, in order to raise the independ-

ence of the audit firms by reducing 

excessive familiarity of the external 



 

auditor with the audited company due 

to long mandates, the new directive 

of the European Union introduced the 

obligation to rotate the audit firm for 

public-interest entities, in particular 

listed companies. In fact, audit terms 

may no longer last more than ten 

years (twenty years if a tender is is-

sued after ten years and twenty-four 

years if several audit firms are hired 

and present a joint audit report). 

These dispositions are applicable for 

new audit mandates as of 2017 with 

transitional provisions for running 

mandates 

In Switzerland, the current legislation 

does not include any provision on the 

rotation of the audit firm. The prelimi-

nary draft of the revision of the Swiss 

Code of Obligations does not foresee 

any provisions concerning the inde-

pendence of the audit firm and no 

revision of the Auditor Oversight Act, 

which also includes the independence 

criteria for audit firms, is planned at 

this time.  

Ethos considers that the decisions of 

the European Union have set up a 

practice that Switzerland cannot ig-

nore for long. Therefore, as of 2017, 

Ethos will apply a maximum 20-year 

term for audit firms. 





 

4.1 The issues 

In order to attract, retain and motivate 

the best staff, a company has to es-

tablish a remuneration system that is 

attractive compared to its competi-

tors. Generally speaking, such a pay 

system should be designed so as to 

align the participants’ interests with 

those of the shareholders, contrib-

uting to long-term value creation.  

The design of the remuneration sys-

tem is very important, in particular for 

the following three reasons: First, a 

remuneration system that yields ex-

cessive pay-outs is an important cost 

which is borne by the company’s 

shareholders. Secondly, the remuner-

ation system can strongly influence 

the attitude of managers toward risk 

taking, thereby impacting the strategic 

orientation of a company. Finally, an 

inappropriate remuneration system 

constitutes an important reputational 

risk which can compromise investors’ 

trust and the motivation of employ-

ees. 

With regard to executive remunera-

tion, a company should establish 

guidelines pertaining to:  

 The transparency of the remunera-

tion system. 

 The structure and payouts of the 

remuneration system. 

 The competencies with regard to 

setting executive remuneration. 

4.2 Transparency of the 

remuneration system 

4.2.1 General framework 

Transparency of the remuneration 

system is necessary to ensure the 

shareholders’ trust. The system must 

be described in clear and exhaustive 

detail, so that the shareholders can 

assess its benefits in terms of its 

costs. However, companies should 

avoid diluting the essential information 

about the remuneration system in 

overly detailed descriptions. 

To encourage companies to be trans-

parent with regard to the remunera-

tion system, most codes of best prac-

tice have introduced specific provi-

sions. However, given that self-

regulation rarely works in the field of 

remuneration, it became necessary to 

make the publication of the remunera-

tion system mandatory. Hence, de-

pending on the country, the share-

holders should receive information in 

a special section of the annual report 

or in the agenda of the annual general 

meeting. 

4. Board and Executive Remuneration 



Generally speaking, the remuneration 

report should include the following: 

a. A detailed description of the prin-

ciples and mechanisms of the re-

muneration system and of each of 

its components (basic salary, an-

nual bonus, long-term incentive 

plans, benefits in kind, pension 

fund contributions). 

b. The global amount of the remu-

neration and the value of its vari-

ous components for each director 

and member of executive man-

agement. Options and shares 

must be valued at their market 

value at grant date. In order to fa-

cilitate understanding, a tabular 

presentation of the amounts under 

separate columns corresponding 

to the different types of awards 

granted during the year under re-

view is indispensable as a com-

plement to the narrative section. 

The total value of the remunera-

tion should also be featured in a 

separate column. 

c. A separate and detailed descrip-

tion of each incentive plan under 

which stock options, shares or 

cash are granted, with the main 

characteristics thereof in each 

case (eligibility, performance crite-

ria, grant date, exact grant price, 

vesting and retention period, up-

ward potential and matching 

grants if any) and the method of 

financing (by issuing new shares 

or by using repurchased shares). 

d. A summary of senior executive 

retirement plans. For transparency 

reasons, the amounts involved 

should be disclosed or easily com-

putable. 

e. A description of senior executive 

contracts, including the conditions 

of appointment and departure and 

of any non-compete clauses. 

When provision is made for special 

compensation in case of change of 

control, those provisions should 

also be disclosed in the report. It is 

indispensable to disclose separate-

ly the amounts effectively paid out 

during the period under review.  

4.2.2 The situation in Switzerland 

As of 1 January 2014, Swiss listed 

companies must provide the following 

information in a separate remunera-

tion report (previously in the notes to 

the accounts) that must be audited by 

the external auditor: 

 The individual remuneration of 

members of the board of directors. 



 

 The aggregate remuneration of 

executive directors and members 

of executive management. 

 The remuneration of the highest 

paid executive. 

In the notes to the accounts, that 

must also be audited by the external 

auditor, the number of shares and 

options held by each member of the 

board and the executive management 

must be published. 

Also, all companies subject to IFRS 

standards must publish, in the notes 

to the accounts, the parameters used 

to calculate the fair value of stock op-

tions (share price at grant date, exer-

cise price, volatility, risk-free interest 

rate, expected life and dividend yield). 

In addition, the SIX Swiss Exchange, 

in the comment on the Directive on 

Corporate Governance (DCG), requires 

a detailed list of all the indications that 

companies must provide regarding the 

principles and components of board 

and executive remuneration, on the 

procedures for setting pay and the 

competencies in this matter. The DCG 

also presents information that issuers 

must provide, depending on whether 

or not they are subject to the Minder 

ordinance. 

4.3 Structure of the 

remuneration system 

There are major differences between 

the remuneration structure of non-

executive directors and that of execu-

tive directors and executive manage-

ment. When analysing executive pay 

structure, a distinction must therefore 

be made between the two. 

Regarding employees, the difference 

between the highest and lowest re-

muneration should not only be limited 

but also duly justified. In addition, the 

same reasoning should apply to the 

ratio between the remuneration of the 

CEO and the remuneration of the per-

sons on the following hierarchical lev-

els. 

Executive pay should also not sys-

tematically rise disproportionately to 

the pay of other employees, so as not 

to foster a feeling of injustice within 

the company that could have a nega-

tive impact on employee motivation. 

4.3.1 Executive directors and 

members of executive 

management 

In Ethos’ view, executive remunera-

tion should be structured according to 

the following principles: 



 The maximum amount of each 

component of the pay package 

must be fixed, thereby setting a 

cap on total annual pay. The max-

imum amount should be deter-

mined bearing in mind the com-

pany’s size and complexity. 

 The variable component should 

depend on clearly defined and 

sufficiently challenging perfor-

mance criteria, so as to align the 

interests of executives with those 

of the shareholders.  

 The on-target variable compo-

nent, in principle should not be 

more than 1.5 times the base sal-

ary for the CEO. For other senior 

managers, the on-target variable 

component should not be more 

than 100% of the base salary. 

 The maximum variable remunera-

tion (for overachievement of ob-

jectives) should not in principle be 

more than twice the on-target 

variable component. 

Payments in excess of the values 

stipulated above could be accepted 

under exceptional circumstances 

when the majority of the variable re-

muneration depends on the achieve-

ment of relative performance targets. 

The components of remuneration are 

as follows: 

A. Base salary 

The base salary must take account of 

the skills and experience of the per-

sons concerned and of the base sala-

ries paid by other listed companies of 

similar size, structure and complexity. 

In principle, it should not be set at a 

level exceeding the median of the 

company’s peer group to avoid an 

upward ratchet of remuneration lev-

els. Base salary is paid in cash and any 

increases must be justified. 

B. Annual bonus 

The annual bonus is the short-term 

variable component of remuneration. 

It is intended to reward performance 

achieved during the year under re-

view. It should not be awarded auto-

matically, nor should it be considered 

a fixed form of remuneration, as some 

companies would have the sharehold-

ers believe. The annual bonus is not 

taken into account to calculate pen-

sion benefits and should not be auto-

matically included when calculating 

severance pay. 

Generally speaking, an annual bonus 

is awarded when performance criteria 



 

are met. The criteria must be in line 

with the company’s strategy and es-

tablished at the beginning of the peri-

od under review. The criteria must 

also be disclosed in the remuneration 

report or in the annual report. In order 

to avoid publication of commercially 

sensitive information, the company 

can disclose the specific targets for 

the bonus ex post. 

Regarding top executives (with the 

exception of the CEO whose remu-

neration should only depend on the 

group’s results), performance criteria 

based on the company’s results can 

be combined with criteria relating to 

individual performance. Furthermore, 

in addition to these purely financial 

criteria, key performance indicators 

(clearly defined and measured) should 

also be taken into consideration re-

flecting the company’s social and en-

vironmental performance, such as 

safety in the workplace, job security, 

absenteeism, customer satisfaction, 

reduced greenhouse gas emissions 

and waste management 

When it comes to measuring a com-

pany’s performance, the use of gen-

eral economic indicators such as stock 

market indexes should be avoided; 

such indicators reflect market trends 

and not necessarily individual compa-

ny performance. 

When part of the bonus is paid in the 

form of shares or stock options, it 

takes on a long-term dimension. In 

principle, the shares must be blocked 

for several years. When additional 

grants are to be made at the end of 

the blocking period, for example if 

matching shares are obtained for a 

certain number of shares blocked for 

three years, the attainment of addi-

tional performance targets should be 

required – blocking the shares is not 

by itself sufficient justification for addi-

tional grants. 

The amount of the maximum individu-

al bonus should be limited as a per-

centage of the base salary, as should 

any exceptional grants. 

To avoid rewarding short-term per-

formance, achieved through excessive 

risk taking, part of the annual bonus 

should be deferred and subject to 

clawback provisions allowing recovery 

in case of bad financial results in sub-

sequent years, or fraudulent behaviour 

leading to a restatement of accounts. 



C. Long-term equity-based incentive 

plans  

In principle, long-term incentive plans 

are based on the award of shares or 

stock options. They can also grant the 

equivalent of gains on shares and 

stock options in cash. In that case, 

however, the beneficiaries never re-

ceive equity, which distorts the plan’s 

initial purpose to enhance participation 

in the company’s capital. 

The plans are forward looking, since 

their aim is to incentivise the partici-

pant to create long-term value, there-

by aligning their interests with those 

of the shareholders. Unlike bonuses, 

they should therefore be structured in 

such a way as to reward future rather 

than past performance. 

Companies should provide a detailed 

description of each plan in the remu-

neration section of the annual report 

or, in the agenda of the annual general 

meeting. The description should com-

prise eligibility, reserved capital, per-

formance criteria, vesting, exercise 

and retention conditions, any addition-

al grants and the conditions for obtain-

ing them, and target and maximum 

individual grants. The plans should not 

be modified in any significant way 

without prior shareholder approval. 

Given the substantial earnings to be 

made by the participants, and in order 

to align the interests of the various 

stakeholders, the final release of 

awards should be contingent on meet-

ing stringent performance targets 

tested over a sufficiently long period 

(minimum three years). Indeed, the 

exercise of options and the final re-

lease of shares should not only be 

subject to a time constraint and a rise 

in the value of the share above the 

strike price. Such a rise does not nec-

essarily reflect the company’s perfor-

mance but could be simply due to a 

general rise in share prices or to the 

effect of an announcement. 

From the perspective of long-term 

value creation, it is important that the 

performance objectives are aligned 

with the company’s strategy. Addi-

tionally, performance must be tested 

both in absolute and relative terms 

(compared to a peer group). The peer 

group must be relevant and disclosed 

in the remuneration report. 

In order to align interests, no awards 

should be released at the end of the 

performance period, if the company 

performance is below the median of 

the peer group. For median perfor-

mance, a minimum award should be 

made. In order to assess the link be-



 

tween remuneration and perfor-

mance, companies should publish the 

degree of achievement of objectives, 

as well as the number of shares re-

leased and their value. 

Participation by the same person in 

more than one plan must be duly justi-

fied and subject to different perfor-

mance criteria for each plan, in order 

to ensure that the person does not 

simply accumulate pay packages. 

To avoid excessive variable remunera-

tion, grants should be capped globally 

(to a percentage of the company’s 

capital) and individually (for example, 

as a percentage of the person’s base 

salary). 

All directors and members of the ex-

ecutive management should gradually 

build up a portfolio of the company’s 

shares that should be kept for the 

entire period of their employment 

with the company, in order to ensure 

that their interests are aligned with 

those of the shareholders. If the par-

ticipants receive large numbers of 

shares or stock options each year but 

ultimately own very few shares, this 

form of remuneration will no longer be 

an incentive to participate in the com-

pany’s capital but solely an additional 

form of remuneration. 

D. Pension contributions  

Employer contributions to executive 

management pension schemes are a 

form of deferred income which has 

become increasingly important in re-

cent years. The amounts involved can 

be substantial. These contributions 

are a form of disguised fixed remu-

neration, i.e. as unrelated to perfor-

mance. 

It is therefore very important for com-

panies to be particularly transparent 

about pension fund contributions. 

They must indicate, individually for 

each of the persons concerned, the 

amounts granted during the year un-

der review. In addition, it is consid-

ered best practice for the company to 

disclose annually the total current val-

ue of the pension benefits accruing to 

individuals under such plans. 

E. Employment contracts 

Executive contracts also form part of 

the remuneration system. An annual 

review of such contracts by the re-

muneration committee ensures that 

they continue to be relevant and ap-

propriate. 

Best practice further expects that no-

tice periods should be set at one year 



or less. It may be justified, however, 

on appointment to have an initial no-

tice period of maximum two years to 

compensate for the risks involved in 

changing employment, but the subse-

quent contracts should provide for 

one year’s notice (or less). There 

should be no automatic entitlement to 

bonus, and no provision should be 

made for special payments in case of 

change of control, so as not to en-

courage executives to sell the compa-

ny just to receive substantial remu-

neration. The golden parachutes 

should not be replaced by signing bo-

nuses (golden hellos) without perfor-

mance conditions.  

In Switzerland, the Minder ordinance 

requires that executive contract length 

and notice periods do not exceed one 

year. The ordinance also prohibits an-

ticipated remuneration and severance 

payments. Signing bonuses and re-

placement payments are authorised if 

they are covered by the reserve fore-

seen in the articles of association for 

the remuneration of new members of 

the executive board or if they are ap-

proved by the general meeting. Non-

compete clauses are also allowed and 

must be mentioned in the articles of 

association. 

4.3.2 Non-executive directors 

A. Fees 

The remuneration of non-executive 

directors must also be presented in 

the remuneration report. Although it is 

often simpler than that of executive 

directors and executive management, 

it nevertheless usually comprises a 

share based component.  

In principle, non-executive directors 

should not receive variable remunera-

tion as it can tie their interests with 

those of senior management. The 

board’s and management’s interests 

could lead to collusion and loss of the 

board’s objectivity in performing its 

oversight and control duties. 

Most codes of best practice recom-

mend that non-executive interest in 

the company take the form of blocked 

shares. Stock options must be prohib-

ited as the speculative nature of stock 

options could prompt the board to 

take too great an interest in the short-

term share price rather than in creat-

ing long-term value.  

Non-executive directors should not be 

entitled to severance payments or, in 

principle, to pension benefits. 



 

B. Holding shares in the company 

When non-executive directors own 

shares in the company they prove 

their attachment to the business and 

demonstrate that their interests are in 

line with those of the shareholders. 

According to the International Corpo-

rate Governance Network (ICGN) this 

is a basic principle. Companies should 

therefore require their directors grad-

ually to build up a portfolio of shares 

that they will keep until they retire 

from the board. The conditions for this 

are to be presented in the remunera-

tion report. In Switzerland, the Code 

of Obligations requires that each di-

rector’s holdings be included in the 

remuneration report. 

4.4 Competence with regard to 

remuneration 

Setting the remuneration system does 

not fall only to the board of directors 

but should be shared with the share-

holders. The latter should not interfere 

in the day-to-day running of a busi-

ness, which is the role of the board 

and of the executive management. 

However, given the cost and risks 

generated by an inappropriate remu-

neration system, shareholders in their 

capacity of company owners should 

also have a say on executive pay. 

4.4.1 The board of directors’ 

competencies  

Given the complex nature of execu-

tive pay, it is best practice for the 

board of directors to appoint a remu-

neration committee to deal with re-

muneration matters. As a rule, it is 

this committee that proposes the fun-

damental principles and mechanisms 

of the remuneration policy to the 

board, which ultimately approves 

them. The same applies for share and 

stock option plans. 

The remuneration committee should 

regularly review the remuneration 

policy as a whole and incentive plans 

in particular, so as to check that they 

continue to be relevant. 

The fees of the remuneration commit-

tee members are set by all the other 

members of the board of directors, 

who must ensure that those fees are 

not aligned on the remuneration of the 

management, so that committee 

members remain independent and 

able to fulfil their duties objectively 

and in the shareholders’ long-term 

interests. 

In Switzerland, the Minder ordinance 

foresees the creation of a remunera-

tion committee whose tasks and re-



sponsibilities must be written down in 

the articles of association and whose 

members are elected each year by the 

general meeting.  

4.4.2 The shareholders’ 

competencies 

A. General situation 

Several countries have introduced 

strict rules on the transparency of re-

muneration. As a result, more and 

better quality information is disclosed, 

unveiling pay packages that may ap-

pear excessive. Consequently, disclo-

sure must go hand-in-hand with the 

shareholders’ right to have a say on 

the fundamental principles and mech-

anisms of executive remuneration in 

listed companies. 

Various countries have gradually 

adopted rules giving the shareholders 

competence in matters of remunera-

tion. They have done so either by in-

cluding the relevant provisions in na-

tional codes of best practice or by 

incorporating them into domestic leg-

islation or into listing rules of stock 

exchanges. 

The table below presents the different 

systems in place in the main markets 

concerning the rights of shareholders 

with regard to setting executive re-

muneration. 

B. The situation in Switzerland 

The definitive application of the Mind-

er ordinance as of 2015 requires that 

each listed company incorporated un-

der Swiss law submits the amounts of 

remuneration for the governing bodies 

to the vote of the shareholders. The 

votes must be binding, annual, and 

separate for the board of directors and 

the executive management.  

 



 

 

Advisory 

vote on the 

remunera-

tion report 

Ex-ante 

advisory vote 

on the 

remunera-

tion system 

of the 

executive 

management 

Ex-ante 

binding vote  

on the remu-

neration 

system 

Binding vote 

of the remu-

neration of 

the board of 

directors 

Vote of the 

remunera-

tion of 

executive 

management 

Vote of 

share-based 

incentive 

plans 

Europe       

Austria - - - yes (1) - yes 

Belgium yes - - yes - yes 

Denmark - - yes (2) yes - - 

Finland - - - yes -  

France yes (3) - - yes (1) - yes 

Germany - - - yes (1) - yes  

Italy - - yes (4) yes - yes 

Ireland - - - yes - yes 

Netherlands - - yes (1) yes - yes 

Norway - yes (5) - yes - yes (6) 

Portugal yes - - - - yes 

Spain yes - - yes - yes 

Sweden - - yes yes - yes (8) 

Switzerland - - - yes  yes - 

UK yes - yes (7) - - yes 

North America      

Canada - - - - - yes 

USA yes (9) - - - - yes 

Asia       

Australia yes - - yes (1) - yes (10) 

Hong Kong - - - yes  - - 

Japan - - - yes (11) - yes (12) 

New Zealand - - - yes - - 

Singapore - - - - - - 

(1) Only in case of a changes. (2) The remuneration system and its amendments. (3) For companies that 

have adopted the Afep-Medef code. (4) Binding for financial institutions, otherwise advisory. 

(5) Advisory vote, unless stipulated otherwise in the articles of association. (6) Binding vote, unless 

stipulated otherwise in the articles of association. (7) At least every 3 years, more frequently if the sys-

tem changes or upon decision of the company. (8) Approval of 90% of votes required. (9) The frequen-

cy of the vote (1, 2 or 3 years) is stipulated in the articles of association following the decision of the 

general meeting. (10) Only when shares are issued in relation to participation plans for the members of 

the board (11) For companies with a “Kansayaku-Structure”. (12) Only when shares are issued in rela-

tion to option plans.  





 

5.1 Share capital  

Decisions with regard to share capital 

are an essential feature of a compa-

ny’s governance. In fact, the share 

capital structure, which defines cer-

tain shareholder rights, including the 

right to vote, has a direct impact on 

the exercise of power and the possi-

bilities of takeover. 

In most countries, shares are either of 

the bearer or the registered type. A 

bearer share enables the shareholder 

to remain anonymous whereas in the 

case of a registered share, the share-

holder has to register on the corporate 

share register, in order to be able to 

exercise the voting rights pertaining to 

the shares. Registered shares there-

fore allow the company to know its 

shareholders. Companies can also 

issue investment certificates, partici-

pation certificates and dividend-right 

certificates which confer only pecuni-

ary rights and therefore do not entitle 

the holder to vote. 

Most codes of best practice require 

that voting rights be exercised on a 

pro rata basis to the investment in the 

capital so that proportional participa-

tion by all shareholders in the deci-

sion-making process is ensured. 

Hence, the most appropriate capital 

structure consists of a unique class of 

shares.  

All countries require that a company’s 

capital be set down in its articles of 

association. However, the system 

used to establish or modify the share 

capital may vary according to the rele-

vant national legislation. 

A. Establishment in the articles of 

association of the maximum capi-

tal the company may issue 

In the United States, the United King-

dom, the Netherlands and Japan, for 

example, the company’s articles of 

association establish a maximum 

number of shares that the company 

may issue. The number of shares 

must be approved by the annual gen-

eral meeting. The amount of capital 

actually issued by the company may 

be below the authorised amount. 

B. Establishment in the articles of 

association of the issued capital 

In other countries, such as Switzer-

land, France, Germany, Italy, Spain, 

Sweden, and Finland, the company’s 

articles of association indicate the 

amount of issued capital. 

5. Capital Structure and Shareholder 

Rights 



5.2 Capital increase 

5.2.1 General framework and pre-

emptive rights 

When the amount of capital specified 

in the articles of association is no 

longer sufficient for the company’s 

needs, the company is compelled to 

increase it. Authorisation to increase 

capital may be requested for general 

or specific purposes. 

Given that capital increases entail a 

dilution of the shareholders’ pecuniary 

rights (right to a dividend) and voting 

rights, in many countries, including 

Switzerland, the law offers compensa-

tion by granting pre-emptive rights. In 

other countries, such as the United 

States, pre-emptive rights are the ex-

ception. 

Thus, the impact of the capital in-

crease on the shareholders’ rights will 

depend on whether or not pre-

emptive rights are maintained, limited 

or even waived. As a result, investor 

decisions regarding capital increases 

take account of the reason for the 

increase and whether or not pre-

emptive rights are granted. 

Pre-emptive rights enable sharehold-

ers to acquire the newly issued shares 

at a rate that is proportional to their 

previous holdings. A shareholder who 

exercises his pre-emptive rights there-

fore maintains his stake in the capital 

and suffers no dilution of his profits or 

voting rights. When pre-emptive rights 

are endorsed by company law, they 

can be waived following approval by 

the shareholders’ general meeting 

under certain conditions.  

However, even when capital increas-

es are accompanied by pre-emptive 

rights, the increase should not be too 

substantial. The limits in place are 

designed to protect the shareholders, 

either from excessive financial pres-

sure for those wishing to maintain 

their stakes in the company, or from a 

serious dilution of their rights if they 

fail to subscribe. 

Sometimes, depending on the pur-

pose of the capital increase, compa-

nies have to waive their shareholders 

pre-emptive rights. Such increases 

can serve specific purposes, such as 

the conversion of options granted to 

employees or the financing of a par-

ticular project. Capital increases with-

out pre-emptive rights must therefore 

remain modest, and the shareholders’ 

decisions depend on their appraisal of 

the goals presented by the company. 



 

5.2.2 Capital increase for general 

financing purposes 

An increase in capital for general pur-

poses may be requested by the board 

of directors at an annual general meet-

ing in anticipation of general needs of 

capital unknown at the moment of 

request. Following approval, the com-

pany may then make use of the capi-

tal as circumstances require. This en-

ables it to react quickly to opportuni-

ties which may suddenly appear. In 

such cases, the deadline for calling an 

extraordinary general meeting could 

hinder the realisation of transactions 

which would be beneficial for the 

company. 

When requests for an increase in capi-

tal for general purposes are not regu-

lated by the law or by generally ac-

cepted best practice standards, insti-

tutional investors and consultants 

each set their own limits. Hence, the 

codes of best practice provide for 

larger authorisations to issue capital 

when shareholders’ pre-emptive 

rights are guaranteed. 

5.2.3 Capital increase for specific 

purposes 

An increase in capital for specific pur-

poses may be required to finance, for 

example, a stake in or acquisition of a 

company or to issue shares following 

the exercise of employee stock op-

tions. In such cases, the capital issued 

must be used exclusively for the pur-

pose requested. 

Requests for an increase in capital for 

specific purposes must be analysed 

by applying the same rules as for in-

creases in capital for general purpos-

es; the appropriateness of the reason 

for the increase (acquisition, employ-

ee incentive plans, etc.) must also be 

analysed. The analysis should consid-

er whether the plan presents a value 

for the company and serves the long-

term interests of the shareholders and 

other stakeholders. Depending on the 

purpose of the increase, it may be 

possible to accept a more substantial 

dilution of rights than in the case of an 

increase in capital for general purpos-

es without pre-emptive rights. Such 

increases must be authorised on a 

case-by-case basis. 

5.2.4 The Swiss case 

In Switzerland, in addition to their or-

dinary capital, companies may dispose 

of pools of authorised and/or condi-

tional capital. Hence, they may re-

quest the annual general meeting to 

authorise the creation, the renewal or 



the increase of a pool of authorised 

capital or of conditional capital. When 

analysing such requests, shareholders 

should take into account the potential 

dilution resulting from each authorisa-

tion separately and from all authorisa-

tions globally. Ethos considers that 

the aggregate authority to raise capital 

without pre-emptive rights for general 

financing  purposes should not exceed 

25% of issued capital. 

A. Ordinary capital 

A company’s ordinary capital is set in 

its articles of association. Any in-

creases in the ordinary capital require 

the authorisation of the annual general 

meeting, which allows the board to 

proceed to a one-time increase of cap-

ital by a fixed amount. The increase 

will have to be executed in the three 

months following the decision and the 

amount of the new capital set out in 

the articles of association. 

In order to avoid dilution of the share-

holders’ pecuniary and voting rights, 

ordinary capital increases are in princi-

ple accompanied by pre-emptive 

rights for existing shareholders, un-

less the increase is to be used for 

example to acquire another company 

or for a merger by exchange of 

shares. 

When an ordinary capital increase is 

requested, the shareholders’ decision 

will depend on the objective underly-

ing the request and whether or not 

pre-emptive rights are maintained. 

The maximum limits for Ethos are 

50% of share capital if pre-emptive 

rights are guaranteed and 20% if they 

are limited or waived, unless the pur-

pose of the issue, duly motivated, 

justifies a higher proportion. 

B. Authorised capital (for general or 

specific purposes) 

In order not to have to convene an 

extraordinary general meeting every 

time it needs to increase the compa-

ny’s capital, the board of directors can 

ask the annual general meeting for the 

right to create authorised capital (CO 

Art. 651). The authorised capital may 

be used for general financing re-

quirements or for specific reasons, 

such as to purchase a company or a 

stake in a company. 

By approving the creation of author-

ised capital, the annual general meet-

ing gives the board of directors the 

right to proceed to successive in-

creases of the capital, on its own initi-

ative, up to the amount authorised 

during a period of no more than two 

years. The amount requested cannot 



 

exceed the legal maximum of 50% of 

ordinary capital (CO Art. 651, para. 2). 

A request for an authorised capital 

follows essentially the same proce-

dure as for an ordinary increase, ex-

cept that the board has two years to 

proceed to the capital issue, en bloc 

or in steps. Unlike the ordinary capital 

increase, in the case of authorised 

capital, the board does not have a du-

ty to make the increase effective but 

rather benefits from a right to do so if 

necessary. It will decide on the right 

time and the exact amount of the in-

crease in the light of the company’s 

financial requirements. Such authori-

sations give the board the flexibility it 

needs to seize business opportunities 

as they arise. 

As in the case of the ordinary in-

crease, the pre-emptive rights of ex-

isting shareholders are in principle 

guaranteed. However, should the 

company need to use the authorised 

capital to purchase another company 

or a stake in a company, the pre-

emptive rights may be limited or 

waived (CO Art. 652b, para. 2). 

Each time the board makes a capital 

increase from authorised capital, it 

must amend the articles of associa-

tion to set the new ordinary share 

capital and reduce the authorised capi-

tal by the amount of the increase. 

When the two years are over, it must 

delete the provision on authorised 

capital from the articles of association. 

If the company needs fresh capital, 

the board must submit a new request 

to the annual general meeting. 

The shareholders’ decision on the 

request for an authorised capital in-

crease depends on the purpose of the 

increase and whether or not their pre-

emptive rights are maintained. As in 

the case of an ordinary capital in-

crease, the maximum accepted by 

Ethos is in principle 50% of issued 

share capital at the time of the author-

isation (legal limit) if pre-emptive 

rights are guaranteed and 20% if they 

are limited or waived. The sharehold-

ers should, however, monitor the total 

potential dilution that successive au-

thorisations could lead to when added 

up (ordinary, authorised and condi-

tional capital). 

C. Conditional capital 

Swiss law also authorises companies 

to have what is known as conditional 

capital (CO Art. 653), which serves 

exclusively to convert: 

 Convertible bonds held by bond-

holders; 



 Options held by company employ-

ees or others. 

According to Swiss law, the amount 

of the conditional capital must be ap-

proved by the annual general meeting 

and may not exceed 50% of the exist-

ing share capital (CO Art. 653a). 

The company’s ordinary share capital 

gradually increases as the bondhold-

ers convert their bonds and the em-

ployees exercise their options. Thus, 

contrary to an ordinary or authorised 

capital increase, the shareholders’ pre-

emptive rights are waived. Because of 

this, a conditional capital increase en-

tails a dilution of the existing share-

holders’ rights. The ceiling of 50% 

authorised under Swiss law may 

therefore be too high, and Ethos de-

cides how to vote on a case-by-case 

basis after having analysed the 

amounts requested and the underly-

ing reasons. 

When the conditional capital is in-

tended for the conversion of bonds for 

which shareholders had a priority sub-

scription right, Ethos respects the 

legal limit of 50%. However, if the 

shareholders’ pre-emptive rights can 

be waived, Ethos sets the limit at 

20%, unless the company presents 

due justification for requesting a high-

er amount.  

On the other hand, when the condi-

tional capital is to be used to convert 

stock options granted to the compa-

ny’s executives and employees under 

incentive plans, pre-emptive rights are 

always waived. Ethos makes deci-

sions on a case-by-case basis, in the 

light of the plans’ characteristics, in 

particular eligibility and acceptable 

limits to the capital reserved for that 

and other company plans (for long-

term incentive plans, see section 4, 

point 4.3.1 C.). 

As in the case of authorised capital, 

the shareholders should analyse con-

ditional capital requests bearing in 

mind the total potential dilution result-

ing from all authorisations. 

5.3 Capital reduction 

5.3.1 Share repurchase and 

cancellation 

In some countries, companies must 

seek shareholder authorisation to re-

purchase their own shares if they in-

tend to cancel them. Share repur-

chases followed by the cancellation of 

shares lead to a reduction in share 

capital. This is a way of returning capi-



 

tal to the shareholders when the free 

cash flow exceeds investment needs. 

In Switzerland, company law provides 

that a company may hold at most 

10% of its own shares. Beyond this 

limit, the company must either reissue 

shares or cancel them and reduce its 

capital accordingly. If the shares are 

cancelled, the shareholders must ap-

prove the reduction in capital. There-

fore, if a company wants to repur-

chase more than 10% of its capital it 

should ask authority from its share-

holders to repurchase and subse-

quently cancel the shares exceeding 

this threshold. 

Any proposal by a company with a 

significant cash flow to buy back its 

shares in order to reduce its capital 

must be justified by the board of di-

rectors. The board must explain clear-

ly to the shareholders why, for exam-

ple, the surplus cash is not used for 

new investments or acquisitions. 

In Switzerland, certain companies ask 

shareholder authority to repurchase 

shares in replacement of a dividend. 

However, a share buyback should not 

be confused with the payment of a 

dividend, as the buyback consists in a 

reimbursement of capital to share-

holders, while the dividend is a distri-

bution of profits. This practice is not 

beneficial for long-term investors such 

as pension funds that do not want to 

sell their shares. The shareholders 

that would sell their shares on a sec-

ond trading line would also be disad-

vantaged, given that any gain realised 

by the sale is taxable. In addition, 

shareholders will bear transaction 

costs, which is not the case for a cash 

dividend payment. 

5.3.2 Reimbursement of par value  

Finally, capital can be reduced by re-

imbursing part of the par value of 

shares, thereby returning capital to 

the shareholders, sometimes in lieu of 

or in addition to a dividend. Unlike the 

dividend, the reimbursement of par 

value is not subject to tax. 

The decrease in capital via par value 

reduction can nevertheless negatively 

affect shareholder rights. Indeed, 

when the right to place an item on the 

agenda of the annual general meeting 

is contingent on holding a certain 

amount of nominal value (1 million 

Swiss francs in Switzerland), a reduc-

tion in capital undermines the share-

holders’ rights unless the company 

amends its articles of association to 

reduce the minimum nominal amount 



required to place an item on the 

agenda accordingly. 

In fact, given that the right to put an 

item on the agenda is a fundamental 

shareholder right, a decrease in share 

capital (by cancelling shares or by re-

ducing their par value) without a con-

comitant decrease in the value of 

shares required to exercise that right 

constitutes a deterioration of share-

holders’ rights which is not accepta-

ble, unless it is negligible. 

5.4 Share repurchase without 

cancellation  

In several countries other than Swit-

zerland, requests to repurchase 

shares (without cancellation) are a 

standard item on the agenda of annual 

general meetings because companies 

wish to have room for flexibility, for 

various reasons: 

 To finance share based incentive 

plans without issuing new capital. 

Such procedures avoid dilution but 

constitute a cost for the company. 

In Switzerland, the major compa-

nies often resort to this tactic, 

which does not promote transpar-

ency. Indeed, because the compa-

nies do not need shareholder ap-

proval of plans financed by the 

company’s own shares, the com-

panies disclose neither the plans 

nor the amounts involved.  

 To intervene on the market in or-

der to support the share price. 

 To finance acquisitions through 

share exchanges. 

 To increase control over the com-

pany by one or more shareholders. 

 To increase the share price with a 

view to exercising stock options. 

 To thwart a hostile takeover bid 

(see 5.5.E).  

In view of the above, it is important to 

be particularly attentive to the reasons 

underlying a repurchase. Several 

countries regulate share repurchases 

in order to protect the shareholders. 

Depending on the country, provision 

may be made for a maximum repur-

chase rate with respect to the issued 

capital, a repurchase price bracket, the 

obligation to inform shareholders of 

the motives underlying the repur-

chase, the prohibition of selective re-

purchases that could discriminate 

against certain shareholders, and limi-

tation of the authority in time. These 

restrictions may to some extent pro-

tect the company from its own at-

tempts to manipulate the stock price 

by creating an artificially high demand 

for its shares and prevent share re-



 

purchases from becoming an anti-

takeover measure. 

5.5 Protection measures 

Multiple measures may be taken to 

protect the company from an “oppor-

tunist” shareholder or a hostile takeo-

ver bid by a third party. 

In principle, institutional investors, 

shareholder associations and codes of 

best practice in corporate governance 

do not support such measures be-

cause they do not foster good man-

agement and enhanced performance 

within a company. By entrenching 

management, these measures may 

thwart takeovers that could put into 

question the company’s management 

and enhance the company’s potential 

and growth. 

However if the company’s long-term 

survival and the interests of the major-

ity of stakeholders are at risk protec-

tion measures can be justified. This 

may be the case, for example, when a 

competitor plans to purchase the 

company in order to wind it up, to 

delocalise production or to resell it 

“piece by piece”, thus putting numer-

ous jobs at risk. Under such circum-

stances, the measures must be duly 

justified, limited in time, and submit-

ted to the shareholders’ approval. 

The main anti-takeover strategies are 

described below. 

A. Different classes of shares  

In order to strengthen control of the 

company by certain shareholders, a 

company may have several classes of 

shares that confer different voting or 

pecuniary rights, contrary to the one 

share = one vote principle. Depending 

on the country, the share capital may 

consist of shares carrying enhanced 

voting or pecuniary rights (with regard 

to the dividend, pre-emptive rights, 

and rights of redemption or additional 

parts on the proceeds of liquidation). 

In Switzerland for example, some 

companies have two classes of 

shares with different nominal values 

but equal voting rights. This enables 

some shareholders to control a com-

pany with a lower investment since 

shares of a lower nominal value have 

the same voting rights as shares of a 

higher nominal value. In some cases 

the shares with a lower nominal value 

are not listed and held by the founding 

family or a major shareholder. 

In principle, Ethos is opposed to capi-

tal structures with privileged voting 



rights. In such a case, the ratio be-

tween the nominal value of the differ-

ent classes of shares should not ex-

ceed one to two. 

B. Limitation of the right to transfer 

or to register shares and of the 

right to vote 

The “one share = one vote” principle 

may sometimes run counter to the 

long-term interests of the company 

and its stakeholders. In fact, given the 

low participation of shareholders at 

general meetings, it is often sufficient 

for a shareholder (or a group of share-

holders) to acquire around 20% of the 

share capital to take control of the 

vote and impose his (their) decisions. 

In such cases, voting rights re-

strictions can protect companies from 

attacks by opportunistic shareholders 

who want to outsource production, 

eliminate a competitor or dismantle 

the company. 

In some countries, including in Swit-

zerland, companies are entitled to set 

a limit in the articles of association 

with respect to the shares that a 

shareholder can register. The compa-

ny can therefore set a cap (in percent-

age of shares) above which it is not 

obliged to consider an acquirer as a 

shareholder with voting rights. These 

restrictions concern registered shares, 

but also bearer shares when their 

holders are known. In most cases, the 

restriction does not apply to all the 

shareholders, which enhances ine-

quality. 

If the company has set limits, or in-

tends to limit in the articles of associa-

tion the shareholders’ right to register 

shares, the articles of association 

should expressly provide that the an-

nual general meeting may, at any 

time, waive that limit at the request of 

a shareholder and that such waiver 

may only be granted by decision of 

the general meeting. This gives all 

shareholders the power to decide, on 

a case-by-case basis, whether the 

request is justified, thereby shielding 

companies from de facto control by 

opportunistic shareholders with a lim-

ited investment but also from man-

agement entrenchment. 

Indeed, unequal capital structures and 

voting rights limits generally serve to 

prevent changes of control and exter-

nal influences, thereby entrenching 

management. By shielding managers 

of poorly performing companies from 

market pressure, such measures can 

have a negative impact on the com-

pany’s capacity to innovate and re-

main competitive in the long run. 



 

Where there is reason to consider the 

relevance of an unequal capital struc-

ture in the light of the company’s his-

tory and its specific situation, such 

structures must be regularly reviewed 

and the relevance of measures con-

travening the “one share = one vote” 

principle regularly reconfirmed. 

C. Obligation to make an offer 

In Switzerland, the Stock Exchange 

Act provides that an investor must 

make an offer to acquire all listed se-

curities if he acquires shares that 

(with the ones that he already owns) 

represent more than 33
1
/3% of the 

voting rights. To ensure the equality of 

treatment of all shareholders, the 

payment of a control premium is pro-

hibited. In fact, the offer price must be 

the higher of (1) the average market 

share price in the 60 days before the 

offer and (2) the highest price that the 

buyer paid for a share of the company 

in the last 12 months. 

However, companies may introduce in 

their articles of association a provision 

that completely frees the buyer from 

the obligation to make an offer (opting 

out clause). Companies also have the 

possibility to raise in their articles of 

association the threshold triggering 

the obligation to make an offer, set-

ting it at a maximum of 49% of the 

voting rights (opting up clause).  

These possibilities to waive the obli-

gation to make an offer were intro-

duced in the legislation to grant flexi-

bility to major shareholders. In fact, 

the opting out and opting up clauses 

allow major shareholders not to make 

an offer for all listed securities in case 

they cross the threshold when buying 

a few additional shares. 

However, these provisions also ena-

ble a major shareholder (who owns 

more than a third of the voting rights) 

to sell his stake with a significant 

premium and without obligation for 

the buyer to make an offer for all 

listed securities, which strongly penal-

ises the minority shareholders. For 

Ethos, these clauses bypass the origi-

nal purpose and become instruments 

allowing major shareholders to realise 

a premium, and therefore an incentive 

to sell the company rather than a pro-

tective measure. The control premium 

that a buyer would pay (and thus the 

incentive to sell for the major share-

holder) is especially high in a company 

with a dual class of shares, where the 

buyer can take control of the company 

with a minority of the capital. 



In the light of the above considera-

tions, Ethos considers that the com-

panies should not include opting out 

or opting up clauses in their articles of 

association. 

D. Supermajority vote requirements  

In some cases, the law or a compa-

ny’s articles of association require that 

certain general meeting decisions be 

taken by a qualified majority. In Swit-

zerland, for example, certain decisions 

require the affirmative vote of a two-

thirds majority of the votes and an 

absolute majority of the nominal 

shares represented. The supermajori-

ty vote requirements can therefore 

enable management to protect itself 

from proposals it does not approve, to 

the detriment of the shareholders and 

the other stakeholders.  

E. Share repurchases and “White 

Knights”  

In some cases, share repurchases 

may provide protection against a 

takeover bid. According to this strate-

gy, a company that is facing a hostile 

takeover bid transfers large blocks of 

shares to a “White Knight” who is an 

entity favourable to the company’s 

board and management. 

F. Capital increase or “Poison Pill” 

In the United States and in Canada, 

when a shareholder reaches the 15-

20% threshold, or when a hostile 

takeover bid is announced, some 

companies automatically increase the 

share capital and place shares with 

existing shareholders, at a sharply 

reduced price (generally half the mar-

ket share price). This procedure, 

known as a “poison pill”, makes the 

takeover more onerous for the pur-

chaser.  

Canadian legislation requires that 

companies seek shareholder approval 

before introducing a “poison pill”. This 

is not the case in the United States. 

According to codes of best practice, 

such measures should not be adopted 

by the board without shareholder ap-

proval. 

“Poison pills” were massively intro-

duced in Japan as of 2005, to prevent 

foreign investors from gaining control 

of Japanese companies. 

In Europe, too, a company’s articles of 

association can authorise an automat-

ic capital issuance for existing share-

holders (at a purchase price that is 

less enticing than a “poison pill”), in 



 

order to make the takeover more cost-

ly for the purchaser.  

  





 

6.1 General remarks 

Mergers, acquisitions and restructur-

ing are generally large-scale transac-

tions with far-reaching long-term con-

sequences for all the company’s 

stakeholders. The interests of the var-

ious parties do not necessarily coin-

cide, however, particularly in the short 

term. It is therefore very important to 

analyse a merger, acquisition or re-

structuring from a long-term perspec-

tive that considers all future conse-

quences, not only for the sharehold-

ers, but also for the other stakehold-

ers, including company personnel, 

clients, suppliers and any members of 

civil society that might be directly im-

pacted by the transaction. 

The stated purpose of most mergers 

is to maximise a company’s value, but 

it must never be forgotten that mer-

gers also present major risks. These 

risks include: 

 Problems relating to the integra-

tion of two separate and often 

competing entities with different 

company cultures, which may, 

among others, undermine staff 

motivation. 

 The amount of the premium, 

which is supposed to represent 

the value of the synergies ex-

pected from the merger. More of-

ten than not, the premium paid 

(goodwill) far exceeds the value of 

the effective synergies and must 

be written off rapidly following an 

impairment test (according to 

IFRS). 

 The financial cost of the transac-

tion, in particular one-time restruc-

turing costs. 

The social implications of mergers, 

acquisitions and restructuring require 

the shareholders to show great pru-

dence when they are called on to give 

their approval. They must have the 

means of ascertaining that the trans-

action is to the advantage of all stake-

holders. They should strive to avoid 

endorsing an operation that serves 

solely to further the interests of man-

agement. Particular attention must be 

paid to any conflicts of interest that 

may arise for executives, who may be 

tempted to privilege their own inter-

ests through the new structure and 

advance their career, improve their 

remuneration or receive transaction 

bonuses. Such objectives may not 

necessarily coincide with the long-

term interests of the minority share-

holders and other stakeholders, nota-
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bly the employees. It would therefore 

be of great value to create a special 

committee including only independent 

directors with no personal or profes-

sional interests in the operation, to 

review and appraise the proposed 

transaction. 

It is admittedly difficult, in particular 

for the shareholders, to foresee exact-

ly what long-term effects a merger, 

acquisition or restructuring will pro-

duce. However, it should be possible 

for them to carry out a reasonably in-

depth analysis of available infor-

mation. In this respect, the quality of 

the information disclosed and the jus-

tification provided by the company, 

including the “fairness opinion” drawn 

up by a competent institution such as 

an investment bank or specialised 

consultant, play a decisive role in the 

acceptance or rejection of the pro-

posal. The institution entrusted with 

the appraisal of the transaction should 

be independent and objective (free of 

any business connection with the rel-

evant companies) and unencumbered 

by the board’s interference in its anal-

ysis of the transaction. To guarantee 

independence and objectivity, codes 

of best practice recommend that the 

fairness opinion be entrusted to an 

organisation that has no important 

business relations with the companies 

concerned.  

Moreover, as remuneration for such 

work generally consists not only of a 

fixed fee but also of a variable one 

that largely depends on the value of 

the transaction and its execution, 

there is an additional source of con-

flicts of interest which should be 

closely monitored by the sharehold-

ers. 

Lastly, a study of the new entity’s 

governance should be carried out to 

assess the impact of the merger on 

the shareholders’ rights and on their 

long-term interests and those of other 

stakeholders. 

6.2 Acquisition or merger by 

absorption 

When an acquisition or merger by 

absorption takes place, one company 

takes over the assets and liabilities of 

another company during the course of 

a universal succession. The transac-

tion may take place between compa-

nies within the same economic sector 

(horizontal integration) or between a 

company and a major client or supplier 

(vertical integration). The objective of 

such transactions may be to create 

synergies, to diversify, to increase 



 

prospects for the company’s pro-

ducts, to increase cash flow or im-

prove creditworthiness, or to lower 

fixed costs by achieving economies of 

scale (particularly in the case of hori-

zontal integration). 

The merger contract is always submit-

ted to the general meeting of the 

company that will be absorbed or ac-

quired. When the latter is dissolved 

without liquidation, its shareholders 

are allocated shares in the acquiring 

company. This transaction is imple-

mented through a contract that pro-

vides for the exchange ratio between 

the shares of the acquired and the 

acquiring company. Generally, the 

shareholders of the absorbed compa-

ny have an immediate financial inter-

est in the transaction, since the an-

nouncement of the operation usually 

leads to a considerable increase in the 

value of the company’s shares. Unfor-

tunately, for this reason, the debate 

concerning the advisability of the 

transaction is frequently limited to 

establishing whether management 

has succeeded in negotiating an opti-

mum deal as represented by the 

share premium that the acquiring 

company has offered. 

The acquiring company is generally 

not required to submit the merger to 

its shareholders for approval, unless 

the operation involves a substantial 

increase in capital to cover the antici-

pated exchange of shares. In Switzer-

land, the board of directors approves 

the merger, except in situations that 

call for modifications to the articles of 

association (change of the company’s 

registered purpose, increase in capital, 

creation of a new class of shares, 

change in the number of members of 

the board). However, the shareholders 

need not be consulted if the company 

has sufficient shares of its own or if 

the articles of association entitle the 

board to increase the authorised capi-

tal to carry out the transaction. 

If the capital is increased, the future 

advantages of the operation must ad-

equately compensate for the dilution 

of profits and voting rights (see 5.2 on 

capital increase). The transaction may 

also have other consequences for the 

structure of the company (for example 

in terms of corporate governance), 

which should be also examined in the 

light of best practice standards and 

the long-term interests of the compa-

ny’s shareholders. 

6.3 Merger by combination 

In a merger by combination, two or 

more companies, which may or may 



not belong to the same economic sec-

tor, contribute their respective assets 

and liabilities to form a new company. 

The merger must be approved by the 

annual general meetings of both com-

panies. Following approval, the new 

company can be formally constituted 

and the shareholders of the dissolved 

companies receive shares in the new 

entity. 

As in the case of mergers by absorp-

tion, the operation must be examined 

in the light of the long-term interests 

of all stakeholders. Moreover, a care-

ful study should demonstrate that the 

structure of the newly formed com-

pany complies with standards of best 

practice in corporate governance. In 

this respect, particular attention 

should be paid to the composition of 

the board of directors and the capital 

structure. 

6.4 Situations akin to mergers 

In everyday language, the term “mer-

ger” is often used to designate pro-

cedures which, from the economic 

point of view, are akin to mergers but 

should not be qualified as such from a 

legal point of view. The two main sit-

uations that are similar to mergers, 

“so-called mergers” and “quasi-

mergers”, are briefly described below. 

“So-called mergers” occur when one 

company (or a part thereof) transfers 

its assets and liabilities to another in 

return for either cash or shares in the 

other company. If the shareholders’ 

general meeting agrees, the company 

that has been taken over can subse-

quently be liquidated, which is not 

really what happens in a true merger, 

when the company is never liquidated 

(see 6.2 above). The shares or cash 

thus obtained are paid out as liquida-

tion proceeds to the shareholders of 

the company that has been taken 

over. 

A “quasi-merger” occurs when one 

company takes over all (or at least 

most) of the shares of another com-

pany and maintains the latter as a 

subsidiary. This type of procedure 

results in the creation of a group. In 

some cases, the subsidiary is subse-

quently absorbed by the parent com-

pany. 

6.5 Company spin-offs 

When a company decides to withdraw 

from a given sphere of activity in order 

to concentrate on another area, it may 

proceed to a spin-off operation. 

Such a course of action is often un-

dertaken when the synergy between 



 

a particular sphere of activity and the 

company’s other activities is weak, 

and when the proposed operation 

offers greater potential for growth on 

both sides. A spin-off may also prove 

effective when a specific sector of a 

company’s activities is undervalued. 

When separated from the rest, the 

market would be more likely to recog-

nise it at a better value 

A spin-off takes place when one com-

pany transfers to another a specific 

part of its own activities and can take 

different forms. The shareholders of 

the parent company can receive par-

ticipation rights in the new company 

to compensate for the loss of sub-

stance of the original company. The 

spun-off company will become inde-

pendent and its shares will be listed 

on the stock market. 

The parent company can also sell a 

division and return to the shareholders 

all or part of the proceeds of the sale 

in the form of a dividend correspond-

ing to the value of the sold activities. 

When a spin-off operation leads to a 

reduction in capital, it must be brought 

before the shareholders of the parent 

company for their approval. It is es-

sential to ensure that the transaction 

is to the advantage of the stakehold-

ers of both companies. Furthermore, 

the structure of the new company 

must comply with the principles of 

best practice in corporate governance. 

In this respect, particular attention 

should be paid to the composition of 

the board of directors and the capital 

structure. 





 

The articles of association are the le-

gal foundation on which a company’s 

existence is based. They contain the 

provisions that are essential to its ac-

tivities, namely its registered name, 

headquarters, corporate purpose, cap-

ital structure, the competencies of its 

bodies, and its shareholders’ rights 

and obligations. The articles of associ-

ation may also contain certain special 

provisions on, for example, the privi-

leges granted to certain classes of 

shares, restrictions on the sharehold-

ers’ voting rights and their right to be 

represented, and cases not covered 

by national legislation. 

Proposals to amend the articles of 

association are generally prompted by 

the need for a company to adapt to 

new situations. They may stem, for 

example, from changes in the national 

legislative or regulatory framework, 

including the adoption of a new law or 

stock market regulations or the estab-

lishment of jurisprudence. 

Amendments to the articles of associ-

ation may involve the mere rewording 

in an article, the amendment of sever-

al articles, or even a complete refor-

mulation of the document. 

Some amendments are of editorial 

nature, while others concern funda-

mental issues such as capital struc-

ture, the shareholders’ voting rights, 

the composition of the board of direc-

tors, the external auditor’s election 

and term of office, and the allocation 

of company income. These subjects 

are dealt with separately in other sec-

tions of this booklet, and voting posi-

tions on them are to be defined in 

accordance with the voting recom-

mendations pertaining to the relevant 

section. 

Amendments to the articles of associ-

ation may also concern less important 

issues, for example voting proce-

dures, conditions for admission to 

annual general meetings, shareholder 

representation at meetings, and ad-

ministrative matters relating to securi-

ties. 

However, an apparently minor or pure-

ly technical amendment may have a 

significant impact on shareholder 

rights. It is therefore essential to care-

fully review the content of all pro-

posed amendments to the articles of 

association. For this reason, the com-

pany should provide the shareholders 

with the complete text of all the pro-

posals and not just a summary. 

7. Amendments to the Articles of 

Association 



According to best practice, the annual 

general meeting should be entitled to 

a separate vote on each separate 

amendment and not to a bundled vote 

of all the amendments proposed. A 

series of amendments may contain 

some proposals that have a positive 

impact on shareholders, while others 

have a negative impact or are simply 

neutral. Bundling the proposals in a 

single vote would leave the share-

holders with no choice but to accept 

or reject them as a whole. 

If the shareholders are nevertheless 

called upon to vote on a bundled se-

ries of proposals, they must weigh the 

negative proposals against the posi-

tive to assess the overall effect on 

their long-term interests. 



 

8.1 History 

Shareholder resolutions, which date 

back to the late 1920s in the US, were 

initially a means of obtaining infor-

mation from management. Subse-

quently, in the 1970s, religious organi-

sations (but not only), grouped to-

gether in their capacity as sharehold-

ers in the Interfaith Center for Corpo-

rate Responsibility (ICCR), began to 

submit resolutions, in their capacity as 

shareholders, which sought to pro-

mote ethical values such as peace and 

the principles of social justice in the 

business community and society at 

large. The resolutions originally aimed 

to ensure respect for human rights in 

repressive political regimes, but they 

have since evolved to include the 

need to promote and respect quality 

standards in the workplace, notably in 

the spheres of security, equality and 

non-discrimination. 

Since the establishment in the mid-

1980s in the United States of the 

Council for Institutional Investors (CII), 

the inception of rules aimed at pro-

moting good corporate governance 

has become a major concern for insti-

tutional investors. 

The Coalition for Environmentally Re-

sponsible Economies (Ceres) was 

created in 1989, after the Exxon Val-

dez disaster. It is an umbrella organi-

sation for investors working to con-

vince companies to adopt a series of 

environmental principles to be pre-

sented annually to the shareholders in 

the form of standardised reports. 

Ceres currently has 130 members that 

“mobilize a powerful network of in-

vestors, companies and public interest 

groups to accelerate and expand the 

adoption of sustainable business prac-

tices and solutions to build a healthy 

global economy.” 

Nowadays, shareholder resolutions 

are becoming increasingly diverse and 

are used as a means of influencing 

corporate strategies, social and envi-

ronmental policies, and corporate 

governance. They are common prac-

tice in the United States and Canada 

and also exist in other parts of the 

world, such as Europe and Japan. 

The rights of shareholders and their 

ability to put resolutions before annual 

general meetings vary from country to 

country. In the United States, for ex-

ample, a shareholder need only own 

shares worth USD 2,000 for one year 

in order to put a resolution on the 

agenda of an annual general meeting. 

However, when companies wish to 

prevent a proposal from being pre-

8. Shareholder Resolutions 



sented at the shareholders’ general 

meeting, they can seize the SEC 

which has the authority to decide 

whether to exclude the proposal or 

not. In fact, as shareholder resolutions 

have progressively become a means 

for active shareholders to influence 

company strategy, the SEC regularly 

revises its rules regarding acceptabil-

ity of resolutions. It sometimes puts 

forward technical or juridical reasons 

for limiting the number and scope of 

resolutions that can be voted on by 

the shareholders.  

In Switzerland, unless otherwise 

stipulated in the company’s articles of 

association, a shareholder (or group of 

shareholders) must hold shares corre-

sponding to a par value of at least 1 

million Swiss francs (or 10% of the 

share capital) in order to put an item 

on the agenda. Since there is consid-

erable difference between a share’s 

par value and its market price, such a 

requirement makes it very difficult to 

submit resolutions because the 

shareholder often has to hold shares 

amounting to a market value of tens 

of millions of francs. 

In Germany, where the submission of 

resolutions is subject to conditions 

similar to Switzerland’s (the share-

holder(s) must represent shares total-

ling at least EUR 500,000 in par value), 

minority shareholders attempt to cir-

cumvent the problem by submitting 

“counter-proposals” to the different 

proposals of the board instead of reso-

lutions. Counter-proposals may be 

numerous and wholly unrelated to 

each other in substance. Since they 

can be introduced at various points on 

the agenda, they are generally pre-

sented in connection with approval of 

the dividend and requests to grant 

discharge to the Management board 

and Supervisory board. The board 

reads the counter-proposals to the 

shareholders, who are subsequently 

called upon to approve or reject the 

specific item on the agenda and not 

the counter-proposal itself. 

As a result, it sometimes happens 

that shareholders put forward a coun-

ter-proposal criticising the company’s 

involvement in a controversial field. 

Shareholders who agree with the 

substance of such a counter-proposal 

would then have to oppose, for ex-

ample, the dividend distribution or 

withhold discharge. Although such 

counter-proposals are unlikely to win 

sufficient support among the share-

holders, they nevertheless provide the 

proponents with an opportunity to 

draw the general meeting’s attention 

to certain important matters. 



 

8.2 Analysis of shareholder 

resolutions 

Each shareholder resolution must be 

subject to an in-depth analysis. How-

ever, certain rules of best practice 

apply to all shareholder resolutions. 

A resolution should be clearly ex-

pressed and accompanied by detailed 

explanations concerning its objectives 

and the means of implementation 

proposed to the company. The feasi-

bility of the proposals must be 

demonstrated in order to justify its 

endorsement by the shareholders. 

Hence, if the targeted objectives go 

beyond a company’s authority and fall 

within the remit of Government, the 

resolution should not be approved. A 

resolution is not acceptable either 

when it aims at micro-managing a 

company by delegating decisions to 

investors that belong to the board or 

the executive management. 

Some investors are only interested in 

proposals that aim to enhance share-

holder value. However, for other 

shareholders, including the Ethos 

Foundation, resolutions are acceptable 

if they enhance long-term corporate 

value for all stakeholders. 

Generally speaking, shareholder reso-

lutions can be divided into three broad 

categories. 

A. Corporate governance resolutions 

The first category consists of resolu-

tions that concern corporate govern-

ance matters. Such resolutions aim at 

encouraging the company to improve 

its corporate governance, primarily to 

ensure that boards discharge their 

duties in the best interests of compa-

nies and their shareholders, thereby 

creating long-term value. 

In this respect, Ethos lends its support 

to resolutions that aim at aligning 

company practices to best practice in 

corporate governance. Ethos approves 

resolutions that promote greater 

transparency and disclosure of infor-

mation, ensure equal treatment of 

shareholders, ask for separation of the 

functions of chairman and CEO, intro-

duce annual election for directors and 

majority vote for board election, re-

duce the shareholdings required for 

convening an extraordinary general 

meeting, align the interests of man-

agers and shareholders in terms of 

remuneration, or ask for information 

with regard to political spending by 

companies. 



B. Environmental resolutions 

The second category involves resolu-

tions concerning the environment. 

These resolutions aim at increasing a 

company’s awareness of the envi-

ronmental issues raised by its activi-

ties and at encouraging the company 

to limit or minimise the impact of its 

activities on the natural environment. 

Generally, Ethos considers that the 

companies should put ambitious cli-

mate change strategies in place and 

enhance the protection of the natural 

environment. 

This is precisely the objective of envi-

ronmental resolutions that require, for 

example, companies to prepare sus-

tainability reports, adopt and publish 

quantitative objectives of greenhouse 

gas reduction, take measures with 

regard to waste management, water 

usage, or limit productions that pro-

duce toxic gases in the atmosphere. 

Certain resolutions also ask compa-

nies to assess the challenges related 

to climate change or prepare a report 

on the risks related to oil sands opera-

tions or to hydraulic fracturing in shale 

gas extraction.  

C. Social resolutions 

The third category includes resolu-

tions designed to increase a compa-

ny’s sense of social responsibility to-

wards its stakeholders, including em-

ployees, customers, suppliers, local 

authorities and civil society at large. 

Such resolutions may also address the 

social impact of the company’s prod-

ucts and practices. 

Generally, Ethos considers that com-

panies should adopt high standards in 

terms of human and workplace rights 

and enforce them, not only in their 

country of domicile, but also all along 

the supply chain.  

Ethos urges companies to put codes 

of conduct and anti-corruption mecha-

nisms in place, to take measures aim-

ing at reducing workplace accidents 

and to promote diversity and non dis-

crimination. 

When company practices are not ade-

quate and a resolution aims to reme-

diate such a situation, Ethos will ap-

prove the resolution. This is notably 

the case for resolutions when asking 

companies to increase employee di-

versity, establish and enforce anti-

discrimination policies, introduce in-

dependent monitoring of the imple-



 

mentation of its human rights code, 

prepare a report on measures to re-

duce accidents, implement a policy to 

make medicines affordable to poor 

citizens, or to guarantee liberty of ex-

pression on the Internet.  

8.3 Impact of shareholder 

resolutions 

Shareholder resolutions are the last 

step in a communication process be-

tween the shareholders and man-

agement. Bringing about a change in a 

company’s “attitude” or practices is a 

process that is usually successful only 

after sustained and good quality dia-

logue. However, when constructive 

dialogue is not possible, or if it does 

not bear fruit within reasonable dead-

lines, a resolution enables the propo-

nents to raise awareness of other 

shareholders and civil society on their 

concerns and to send a signal to the 

company. 

Generally speaking, shareholder 

“campaigns” use several means sim-

ultaneously to advance their cause, 

such as dialogue, the submission of 

resolutions and other means of exter-

nal pressure. Although the resolutions 

are usually submitted following genu-

ine attempts at dialogue, combining 

the dialogue with a resolution can 

speed up the process and bring about 

tangible results in shorter deadlines. 

The approval rate of a resolution is 

very important, in particular in order to 

send a strong signal to the company’s 

management regarding shareholders’ 

concerns. Many resolutions, however, 

obtain no more than 10% of votes, at 

least the first year. Moreover, in some 

countries, such as the United States, 

they are generally non-binding, which 

means that the outcome of the vote is 

purely advisory. The board of directors 

is not obliged to implement the deci-

sion, even if it has the support of a 

majority of votes. However, when a 

majority of shareholders approves a 

resolution, the board of directors is 

placed under heavy pressure to take 

account of it, at the risk of not being 

re-elected by the shareholders. 

In principle, shareholder resolutions 

on matters of corporate governance 

tend to have the best results, because 

they easily rally the support of other 

shareholders who are not all neces-

sarily concerned about socially re-

sponsible investment issues. Recent-

ly, in the United States, corporate 

governance resolutions on the elec-

tion of board members with a majority 

of votes, the annual re-election of 

board members, the right of share-



holders to propose candidates to the 

board or the elimination of qualified 

majorities for certain votes have ob-

tained record support (sometimes far 

exceeding 50%). 

Environmental and social resolutions, 

for their part, are meeting with grow-

ing success which reflects the grow-

ing shareholder interest for these is-

sues.  

At recent general meetings, environ-

mental and social resolutions received 

more support each year, reflecting the 

interest of the shareholders regarding 

these issues. For example, resolutions 

at 2015 general meetings asking 

companies to publish reports on their 

political contributions were approved 

by close to 30% of votes on average.  

The environmental resolutions were 

also well received by the sharehold-

ers. Among them, the resolutions re-

garding climate change were the most 

frequent. Resolutions asking compa-

nies to publish greenhouse gas emis-

sions reduction targets received 23% 

support. Those asking boards to pub-

lish a sustainability report received an 

average of 28% affirmative votes. 

 



 

The “Other business” item on the 

agenda of the annual general meeting 

usually covers matters that require 

consideration but are not put to the 

vote. Nevertheless, companies some-

times submit to vote proposals that 

did not appear as items on the agen-

da. This procedure is not authorised in 

some countries In Switzerland, the 

general meeting cannot decide on an 

item that was not on the agenda (ex-

cept to call an extraordinary general 

meeting, to conduct a special audit or 

to elect an audit firm). The sharehold-

er may make additional proposals or 

counter-proposals to the subjects 

covered in the agenda. 

The practice of introducing matters 

that do not appear on the agenda un-

der the heading “Other business” is a 

contentious issue. It is much criticised 

by investors and consultants in corpo-

rate governance, particularly when the 

acceptance of the matter requires the 

approval of the majority of sharehold-

ers actually present at the annual 

general meeting. This serves to ex-

clude the vast majority of investors, 

and notably institutional investors who 

traditionally vote by proxy. 

In order to avoid ratifying proposals of 

unknown content, shareholders voting 

by proxy, and who are therefore not 

present at the annual general meet-

ing, should not approve in advance an 

unknown proposal. It is therefore im-

perative that voting cards include ex-

plicitly the possibility for shareholders 

voting in advance to refuse any pro-

posal announced during the general 

meeting, be it by the board or a 

shareholder. 

9. Other Business 
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